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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Perfect Optronics Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
Staterment herein or this report misleading.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), |
present the annual results of Perfect Optronics Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2019 (the “Year”) to all of its shareholders.

2019 was a turbulent year for global economy. Domestic
mobile phone shipments in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC” or “China”) decreased. Influenced by the
economic uncertainties and Sino-American trade tension
and combined with the shrinking market and continuous
market concentration to major brands in the mobile phone
market, the Group’s business continued to make loss
during the Year, but nonetheless, the amount of loss
decreased as compared with 2018.

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$166.6 million, representing a decrease
of 34% as compared with 2018. Consolidated loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$34.1 million, representing
a decrease in loss of approximately HK$21.7 million as
compared with 2018.

During the Year, trades of medium-to-large sized display
products decreased as compared with 2018 but remained
as a key revenue generator of the Group. To widen our
revenue base, we proactively develop our new electronic
signage business and it began to contribute notable
revenue to the Group during the Year. To promote its
electronic signage products, the Group showcased its
electronic signage products in the Learning & Teaching
Expo 2019 and Retail Asia Conference & Expo in Hong
Kong. Meanwhile, our long-standing partners, Innolux
Corporation (“Innolux”) and Novatek Microelectronics
Corp. (“Novatek”) completed their investments in our
subsidiary engaging in electronic signage business during
the Year. Their participation strengthened our confidence
to capture the rising market in electronic signage.
Furthermore, we set up a branch in Taiwan in late 2019
to expand our electronic signage business.
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As for the Group’s investment, the Group subscribed
certain preferred shares of Mobvoi Inc. (“Mobvoi”) in early
2015. Following the Group’s subscription, Mobvoi
completed several rounds of fundraising and introduced
world class enterprises such as Google and Volkswagen
as its investors. Mobvoi is principally engaged in the
business of developing and providing voice search
artificial intelligence (“Al”) systems on mobile, smart
wearable, automotive and other devices. For its
consumer-facing business, Mobvoi launched the Mobvoi
mobile app, smartwatches, wireless smart earphones,
smart rearview mirror, smart speakers and other Al
software and hardware products. Mobvoi has become a
recognizable consumer Al wearable brand on a global
scale. With expanded Al capabilities and experience for
consumer-level applications, Mobvoi extended its business
to enterprise-level applications, providing a consumer-
facing experience for enterprises. Mobvoi had recently
completed a further round of issuance of new preferred
shares to investors and the Group’s shareholding in
Mobvoi (on a fully diluted and as converted basis) was
diluted from approximately 1.53% to approximately
1.50%. We understand such fundraising enables Mobvoi
to further reinforce its new technological research, which
may possibly fetch lucrative investment return for the
Group.

Looking forward, the global economic outlook in 2020
remains uncertain due to the impact of trade conflicts,
continuous downward pressure on the economic growth
in China, as well as the recent outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak”). To reduce the
impact of the uncertainties of the economy, the Group will
continue to proactively enlarge its revenue base and seize
business opportunities. Furthermore, the Group will go full
steam to maintain its competence and create greater
value for the Group and the shareholders of the Company
amidst all these challenges in 2020.

Annual Report 2019
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I, on behalf of the Board, would like to present my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, business partners
and customers for their support and trust over the years.
| also highly appreciate the contribution and dedication of
our management and staff.

Cheng Wai Tak
Chairman
Perfect Optronics Limited

Hong Kong
18 March 2020
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The Group is principally engaged in the trading,
development and sale of display and optics products and
related electronic components. The Group also processes
some of the products that it sells.

2019 was a turbulent year for the global economy. The
Sino-American trade frictions continued and uncertainties
of the economy increased. China’s domestic mobile
phone shipments dropped by 6.2% to 388.6 million units
in 2019 as compared with 2018, according to a report
issued by the China Academy of Information and
Communications Technology. The demand for mobile
phones was shrinking. Furthermore, the market
concentration of China mobile phones in certain
dominating major brands continued in 2019, which
continuously affected the Group being an upstream
mobile phone component supplier for those scattered
non-mainstream or second tier mobile phone
manufacturers. All these unfavourable factors adversely
affected the Group’s performance during the Year. Sales
of the Group remained weak even though the Group’s
financial performance had improved during the Year. The
Group recorded an approximately 34% decrease in
revenue to approximately HK$166,607,000 for the Year as
compared to approximately HK$254,072,000 for 2018.
Loss for the Year attributable to equity holders of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$34,078,000,
represented a decrease in loss of approximately
HK$21,702,000 as compared to the loss of approximately
HK$55,780,000 for 2018.
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Under the continuously weak performance of the sales of
the Group’s mobile phone display panels in the small-
sized display panel market, the sales of the medium-to-
large sized display products, including display modules for
computer notebooks, monitors and televisions, remained
as the key revenue driver of the Group during the Year.
However, the sales of medium-to-large sized display
products also declined during the Year as compared with
2018 as the Group inclined to be more prudent in the
procurement of products in light of the uncertainties in
China’s economy and the oversupply situation in the
display panels market during the Year. During the Year,
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$164,149,000 from its display products segment,
represented a decrease of approximately 34% as
compared with approximately HK$249,518,000 for 2018.
Sales of thin film transistor liquid crystal display (“TFT-
LCD”) panels and modules amounted to approximately
HK$135,040,000 during the Year, represented a drop of
approximately 40% from that for the year ended 31
December 2018 of approximately HK$226,154,000. Sales
of polarisers and light guide plates during the Year
amounted to approximately HK$4,721,000 (2018:
HK$5,208,000) and approximately HK$2,332,000 (2018:
HK$9,174,000) respectively, which represented a decrease
of approximately HK$487,000 and approximately
HK$6,842,000 respectively as compared with those for
2018. Such decreases offset the increases in the Group’s
sales of integrated circuits (“ICs”) and electronic signage
during the Year. Sales of ICs during the Year amounted
to approximately HK$5,325,000, which represented an
increase of approximately HK$2,057,000 as compared
with 2018.
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The Group has introduced its latest display products,
namely electronic signage, to the market, which include
digital information signage, electronic shelf displays and
electronic white board, etc. Beyond targeting on the
retailers, the Group has strived to promote its electronic
signage products to different industries’ customers, such
as introducing electronic white boards in classrooms to
the academy field. To attract the market attention and
interest in electronic signage products, the Group
showcased its electronic signage products in the Learning
& Teaching Expo 2019 and Retail Asia Conference & Expo
in Hong Kong, one of the Hong Kong’s premier retail
conferences, in 2019. Through the Group’s efforts on
products development and promotion, electronic signage
began to contribute revenue of approximately
HK$7,749,000 (2018: HK$397,000) during the Year. Most
importantly, Innolux and Novatek, both listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, invested in the Group’s
electronic signage business through their subsidiaries
during the Year. Each of Innolux and Novatek, through
their subsidiaries, respectively invested USD190,000 and
holds a 19% equity interest in Perinnova Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group engaging in the electronic signage
business. Both Innolux and Novatek are suppliers of the
Group and have expertise in developing, manufacturing
and supplying display components and IC solutions. The
Group believes their participation will help the Group
capture the rising market in electronic signage.
Furthermore, the Group established a branch in Taiwan in
late 2019 to expand its electronic signage business in the
region.

In 2019, the Group continued encountering many
challenges in its sales of optics products. During the
Year, the Group’s optics products segment recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$2,458,000, represented a
decrease of approximately HK$2,096,000 as compared
with approximately HK$4,554,000 for 2018. The Group’s
sales of optics products underwent a hard time due to
many market uncertainties, fierce pricing and competition
from similar products in the market.
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The Group holds certain preferred shares of Mobvoi,
which is principally engaged in the business of developing
and providing voice search Al systems on mobile, smart
wearable, automotive and other devices. Such investment
is classified as financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”). During the Year, Mobvoi continued to
launch new products, including new models of smart
watches and portable assistant speaker. Mobvoi has joint
hands with various telecom leaders in China, such as
China Mobile and China Unicom to promote their eSIM
solutions. In the overseas market, Mobvoi also
cooperated with Verizon to launch its smart watches
supporting 4G/LTE service in the United States in July
2019. The Group understands that Mobvoi will continue to
enrich its product diversity, extend its business to various
enterprise-level applications, enhance its technologies and
expand its global footprint. Mobvoi completed a further
round of issuance of new preferred shares to investors
during the Year and the Group’s shareholding in Mobvoi
(on a fully diluted and as converted basis) was diluted
from approximately 1.53% to approximately 1.50%. The
fair value of the Group’s investment in Mobvoi further
increased following the new round of fundraising, and a
fair value gain in financial asset at FVTPL of
approximately HK$2,550,000 (2018: HK$719,000) was
recognised during the Year. The Group believes that such
fundraising exercise of Mobvoi enabled Mobvoi to obtain
new capital to further enhance its research and
development activities, which may generate good
investment returns to the Group.

The Group’s another investment was classified as financial
asset at fair value though other comprehensive income,
representing its investment in a Taiwan private company
which engages in the business of the separator (a key
component in lithium batteries). The Group invested
approximately HK$2,606,000 in 2017 which represented
an approximately 3.33% shareholding of such company.
Such company allotted additional shares to raise capital
during the Year and the Group’s shareholding was diluted
slightly to approximately 3.03%.
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Looking ahead, the economic landscape will continue to
be clouded by uncertainties. Trade frictions and the
existing dominance by major brands in the mobile phone
market may continue to pose impact on the Group’s
performance. The COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020,
which has caused disruption to businesses and market
uncertainties in the affected regions, may further impose a
negative impact on the economy. Sales of electronic
components and products are expected to be weak in the
first half of 2020. Nevertheless, to deal with these
challenges, the Group will continue to take different
strategies to enlarge its revenue base and seize new
business opportunities to limit the adverse impact on any
individual product market. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to widen its product diversity and explore all
kinds of opportunities with new suppliers and customers
from various areas or industries.

A slowdown in the global economy, including the PRC
economic climate, which has been one of the major
markets for display products, would affect the results of
the Group. A decrease in market demand may put
significant downward pressure on the average selling
prices. Reduced corporate and commercial activities also
have a negative impact on the demand for and prices of
the Group’s products. If the economy continues to grow
at a slow rate, or experiences a prolonged recession, the
Group’s business and results of operations will continue to
be adversely affected.
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The Group places orders with its suppliers based on the
Group’s forecast of future procurement, customers’
intentions and indicated orders, customers’ recent
purchase orders and the Group’s inventory levels. Any
unanticipated drop in sales could cause the Group’s
inventories to accumulate. As technology evolves quickly,
the Group’s inventories may become obsolete and may
adversely affect the Group’s financial position and results
of operations.

Product trends, industry trends and other factors beyond
the Group’s control may cause fluctuations in selling
prices and raw material prices, which could have a drastic
and adverse effect on the Group’s gross profit and net
profit.

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk, price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of such risks are set out in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction
with the Group’s consolidated financial statements and its
notes, which are included in this report.

Total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$166,607,000, decreased by approximately 34% as
compared to approximately HK$254,072,000 in 2018.
Decrease in total revenue was attributable to the decrease
in revenue from the Group’s sales of TFT-LCD panels and
modules, polarisers, light guide plates, and optics
products.
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Cost of sales of the Group mainly consisted of purchase
costs, processing and subcontracting charges, staff costs,
scrap loss, provision for obsolete inventories and other
direct costs. Due to the decrease in revenue, purchase
costs, processing and subcontracting charges, scrap loss
and other direct costs decreased during the year ended
31 December 2019 as compared with 2018. Meanwhile,
provision for obsolete inventories during the year ended
31 December 2019 also decreased as compared with
2018. Total cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$166,902,000, decreased by approximately 38% as
compared to approximately HK$268,428,000 in 2018.

Gross loss amounting to approximately HK$295,000 was
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$14,356,000). The drop in the Group’s revenue and
low gross profit margins of the products sold during the
year ended 31 December 2019 led to the gross loss.
Nevertheless, the amount of gross loss decreased in 2019
when compared with 2018.

Net other gains of approximately HK$3,069,000 (2018:
HK$865,000) was recorded during the year ended 31
December 2019. The balance mainly included the fair
value gain in the Group’s investment in Mobvoi of
approximately HK$2,550,000 (2018: HK$719,000).

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$8,680,000, representing an approximately 26%
decrease as compared to approximately HK$11,761,000
in 2018. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in warehouse storage costs during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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The Group’s general and administrative expenses for the
year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$26,916,000, which is comparable to
approximately HK$26,867,000 in 2018.

The Group’s research and development expenses
amounted to approximately HK$1,972,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019, which decreased by
approximately HK$1,393,000 as compared with 2018 of
approximately HK$3,365,000. The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease in staff costs and development fees
incurred for products development.

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31
December 2019 included bank loans interest expenses of
approximately HK$275,000 (2018: HK$456,000) and the
interest expenses of approximately HK$890,000 (2018: Nil)
on lease liabilities recognised under the new accounting
standard, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard No.
16 (“HKFRS 16”). Please refer to Note 2.2 to the
consolidated financial statements for details of the
adoption of HKFRS 16.

No Hong Kong profits tax was provided by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). Income tax
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
mainly represented deferred income tax credited to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$34,078,000, representing a decrease in
loss of approximately HK$21,702,000 as compared with
the loss for 2018 of approximately HK$55,780,000, which
was mainly attributable to the increase in fair value gain
on investment, the decrease in the provision for obsolete
inventories and the reduction of distribution and selling
expenses, and research and development expenses
during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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The financial key performance indicators are analysed as

follows:

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Revenue

Gross loss

Loss before interest, income tax,

depreciation and amortisation
(“EBITDA”)

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to equity holders of

the Company

Return on total assets (%)

Return on shareholders’ equity (%)

Basic loss per share (HK cents)

Note

Pt

8 3]
e A
8 (i
BRFE - FEH  HE
REBHEAER
([EBITDAJ) (i
FEBB

ARRBHEFEARE
BB

BB ERRE %) (i)

P B 12 2% [2] 3R 2R (%) (il

FRENERGEWN)

Annual Report 2019

TEMBRREFOMOT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

2018

—F-N\F
HK$'000
TET

254,072

(14,356)

(53,406)

(55,780)

(55,780)

—23.2%

—27.3%

HK(3.76) cents
(3.76) Al

Percentage change
Increase/
(decrease)
BOLES
#90,/ (2)

(34)%

(98)%

(48)%

(36)%

(39)%

Improved by 5.7%
WES.T%

Improved by 7.1%
BETA%

(39)%



Note
P
KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS TEHBER
Cash and cash equivalents ReLHEEEY
Net current assets MBEEFE
Total assets BELT
Bank borrowings RITER
Total liabilities BERRE
Equity attributable to equity N/NGIL Es ey PN
holders of the Company e
Total equity BmaE
Current ratio (times) MBI & () (iv)
Quick ratio (times) RELL K (1F) )
Gearing ratio (%) BEREELE%) (vi)
Debt-to-asset ratio (%) BEEELE%) (vii)
Notes:
(i) As the Group recorded gross loss and loss before interest, income

tax, depreciation and amortisation during the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018, no gross profit margin and EBITDA

margin are presented

(if) Return on total assets = Loss for the year/Total assets

(iii) Return on shareholders’ equity = Loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company/Equity attributable to equity holders of the

Company

(iv) Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities

v) Quick ratio = (Current assets — Inventories)/Current liabilities

(vi) Gearing ratio = Total interest-bearing bank borrowings/Total equity

(vii) Debt-to-asset ratio = Total interest-bearing bank borrowings/Total
assets

As at 31 December

R+=RA=+—-8H
Percentage
change
Increase/
2018 (decrease)
BOLED
—-NE  #En/CRD)
HK$'000
FTHT
71,153 (1)%
140,164 (29)%
240,795 (15)%
8,979 (100)%
36,830 (10)%
203,965 (17)%
203,965 (16)%
4.8 times Increased by
4.8f5% 0.2 times
1 mo.265
2.6 times Increased by
2.615 1.1 times
#1115
4.4% (4.4)%
3.7% (3.7%

Mt -

(i) AREE=T-NFER=ZT—)/\F+ZA=+—BL
FEAEESSEBRRAE  AER - TE R#H
RIS 18 - B4 2 51 F & REBITDAE

(ii) BEAELRR-FEFHE EELSE

iy REEDZERE=AARERFTEAEMEEE AR
AESREARGEER

(iv) R R=EBEE,/RPAE

v) B R=-(RBEE — FE)/ RBHAE

(vi) BRBENR=; BRITIEREE S BE

Vi) BEEELER=ISRITEREE EELE
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The Group’s funds are principally used to finance working ASBEMESTZHAERNEEES kR AK
capital, and the growth and expansion of the Group's E£EZERHEEFAKNIERLIBERERES -
operations and sales network. The Group’s principal ZAEBTENE LR RAEOALCEELINIRESR
sources of funds are cash generated from operations and $R{TfE K - REBIETEFER - BITEH MRS
bank borrowings. An analysis of the Group’s bank Z 2R :

deposits, bank balances and cash is as follows:

As at 31 December

BW+=ZA=+—H

2018

—E-N\F

HK$’000

FET
Total bank deposits, bank balances and R 7717 5% ~ $R 1T 4 #4

cash NIE & B3 81,488
Less: Restricted bank deposits included & : 5t AREN B E W

in current assets 2R HIRITFER (10,335)

Cash and cash equivalents e hREFEY 71,153

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank deposits, bank AEBRRITFER  FITEH MRS NEEE
balances and cash are denominated in the following JiLA %] EEEEHE

currencies:

As at 31 December

R+=ZBA=+-—-H
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’'000
FET
United States dollars (“USD”) Erx(ExD 71,371
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) B (ABxl)) 6,288
Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARBETARE]D 3,107
New Taiwan dollars (“TWD”) meaw(maet]) 722
81,488
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The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 December
2019. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank
borrowings comprised fixed interest rate bank loans of
approximately HK$8,979,000, which were denominated in
RMB and repayable within a period not exceeding one
year.

The capital of the Company only comprises ordinary
shares. There has been no change in the capital structure
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus
maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the year.

The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
monitoring on an ongoing basis with reference to the
financial position of the debtors, past experience and
other factors. The Group performs regular credit
evaluations of its major customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the management closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position and maintains sufficient cash and an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to settle
the payables of the Group.

The Group’s management policies, working environment,
career prospects and employees’ benefits have
contributed to building a good employee relations and
employee retention of the Group. The Group offers
competitive remuneration packages commensurate with
industry practice and provides various fringe benefits to
employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
mandatory provident funds, bonuses and a share option
scheme. The management regularly reviews its
employee’s remuneration packages to ensure they are up
to prevailing market standard.

REBR-_Z—HLE+_A=+—B L ERT
BR-RZE-—NF+_A=1+—H8 ' A£H
RIER1T 8 5K B 35 B E 7 & 8R 17 B 3} 498,979,000
B WARBHE RERATEBE—FHA
REE -
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+oB=+—HIEE  ARENEAEHBHE
mE

AEBEEREESRRRERBEYBEERS
EoEAMRBEFESARERRBZABDES
RO

AEBEE2EEHEANPBKRR  BELR NI
HAEMBEETEE  BREOREEE
R AEEEEHAEIERTPETEERN
- REERDESRR EEESEETER
AEENRBESHARTECHRE MR
MEAEEERE NWEEXRNEENEMR-

AEEBNEERE  TERE -BEHII=ERE
BERANEHAEEEEEREYRITAERLEE
BB -ASBAREERHFATEEBALAR
FINFHNEFELSERERA RIEEER
TR GBS CARERETE-TEE
FTHRIHEEEFWES HREAFARTH
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As at 31 December 2019, the employee headcount of the
Group was 74 (2018: 72) and the total staff costs,
including directors’ emoluments, amounted to
approximately HK$21,533,000 during the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$24,492,000). The amount of
total staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2019
excluded depreciation and finance costs associated with
the lease of staff quarter, amounting to approximately
HK$974,000 and approximately HK$63,000 respectively.

The Group has established long term business
relationships with its major suppliers for over ten years.
The Group has entered into long term supply framework
agreements with these suppliers. The Group will endeavor
to maintain its established relationship with these existing
suppliers.

The Group has a well-established business relationship
with its customers and has gained recognition in the TFT-
LCD panel industry in the PRC. Some of its customers
have over ten-year business relationships with the Group.
To deal with the recent downturn in the Group’s
business, the Group endeavours to secure the business
with existing customers and at the same time devotes to
develop new reliable customers in new markets.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (2018: Nil).

The Group had no charge of assets as at 31 December
2019. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had pledged
its bank deposits of approximately HK$10,335,000 to
bank to secure the banking facilities granted to the
Group.

The Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in USD, HK$, RMB and TWD.
HK$ are reasonably stable against the USD under the
Linked Exchange Rate System. In addition, the
management considers that the impact on exchange
differences for RMB and TWD is not significant as at 31
December 2019. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Board will
continuously monitor the related foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments (2018: Nil).

The Board does not recommend nor declare any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

In January 2015, the Group subscribed for 25,213,220
Series A-2 Preferred Shares of Mobvoi at a consideration
of USD3,000,000. Mobvoi is principally engaged in the
business of developing and providing voice search Al
systems on mobile, smart wearable, automotive and other
devices. The Company considers that the investment in
Mobvoi, which is intended to be held by the Group for
long-term investment purpose, will provide an opportunity
to the Group to share in and gain from the development
potentials of Mobvoi and its products and technology. The
Group does not have any management or operational role
in Mobvoi. There have been no addition to or disposal of
such investment by the Group since it made the
investment in January 2015. Mobvoi has undertaken
several rounds of fundraising in recent years. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, Mobvoi completed a
further round of issuance of new preferred shares to
investors and the Group’s shareholding in Mobvoi (on a
fully diluted and as converted basis) was diluted from
approximately 1.53% to approximately 1.50%.

The Group’s investment in Mobvoi is classified as financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31
December 2019, the fair value of the Group’s investment
in Mobvoi was approximately HK$57,538,000,
representing approximately 28.3% of the Group’s total
assets. No dividend has been received by the Group from
Mobvoi since making its investment. A fair value gain of
approximately HK$2,550,000 was recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Save for the abovementioned, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other
company as at 31 December 2019.
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The Group did not have plans for material investments
and capital assets as at 31 December 2019.

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

As announced by the Company in its announcement
dated 4 October 2019, on 25 September 2019, the
Company received a sealed copy of a petition (the
“Petition”) issued by the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region which was taken out by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) pursuant
to section 214 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) against six Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng Wai
Tak, Mr. Liu Ka Wing, Mr. Tse Ka Wing, Mr. Wong Yik
Chung John, Mr. Wong Chi Chiu and Mr. Li Shui Yan
(collectively “the Director Respondents”), and the
Company. The SFC alleged in the Petition that the
Director Respondents had breached their duties as
directors of the Company in relation to the disposal of a
subsidiary of the Company holding an approximately
50.14% shareholding in 1 3 % & & 7 & R & A
(Shinyoptics Corporation®) (details of such disposal were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 22
December 2016). The Company understands the Director
Respondents disagree with the allegations of the SFC in
the Petition, and intend to vigorously contest the Petition.

Trading in the shares of the Company on GEM has been
suspended since 9:00 a.m. on 26 September 2019 until
further notice. As announced by the Company in its
announcement dated 10 January 2020, the Company has
received resumption guidance from the Stock Exchange,
and the Company is seeking advice on the guidance
issued by the Stock Exchange and is actively considering
and taking appropriate steps to resolve the issues in
connection with its trading suspension, including the
appointment of two new independent non-executive
directors as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 December 2019.

* for identification purpose only
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The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance with a view to safeguarding the
interests of its shareholders. To accomplish this, save as
set out below, the Company has adopted the principles
and the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company had complied with all the code provisions of the
CG Code, except for the deviation as disclosed under the
section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”
below.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
complied with the required standard of dealings and the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the year.
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Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
three executive Directors and five independent non-
executive Directors. The composition of the Board during
the year and up to the date of this annual report was as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Ka Wing

Mr. Tse Ka Wing

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Yik Chung John

Mr. Wong Chi Chiu

Mr. Li Shui Yan

Mr. Cho Chi Kong (appointed on 1 January 2020)
Mr. Kan Man Wai (appointed on 1 January 2020)

The biographical details of all Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 67 to
71 of this annual report. To the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among members of the
Board.

The Board is responsible for establishing the strategic
direction of the Company and its subsidiaries; setting
objectives and business development plans; monitoring
the performance of the senior management; and assuming
responsibility for corporate governance. The management,
under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, is
responsible for implementing the strategies and plans
established by the Board and reporting on the Group’s
operations to the Board on a regular basis to ensure
effective performance of the Board’s responsibilities.

The management provided all members of the Board with

monthly updates in accordance with the code provision
C.1.2 of the CG Code.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of
any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through
other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. All minutes of
the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail of
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions
made.
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Four regular board meetings were held during the year., BEZE@RFERBITMNATHE % - @ARES L
The attendance of individual Directors at these board EEZ@ @z 2BERWT :
meetings were as follows:
Number of
regular board
meetings
Name attended/held
HE BT
EHNESS
% E BEAE
Executive Directors: HITESF -
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (Chairman) BB B (EE) 4/4
Mr. Liu Ka Wing BmfisE 4/4
Mr. Tse Ka Wing e e 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors: BIINTESF
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John EREBRE 4/4
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu EEMBEE 4/4
Mr. Li Shui Yan FmBEE 4/4
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of three years.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG
Code, all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by the shareholders at the
first general meeting after their appointment. By virtue of
article 112 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board shall have power from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director but the
number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the
shareholders in general meeting. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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In compliance with the code provision in A.4.2 of the CG
Code, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to
article 108(a) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not
3 or a multiple of 3, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every Director (including those appointed for
a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every 3 years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated
office.

By virtue of article 108 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Tse Ka Wing and Mr.
Li Shui Yan will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man Wai were appointed
as independent non-executive Directors with effect from 1
January 2020. In accordance with the article 112 of the
articles of association of the Company, Mr. Cho Chi Kong
and Mr. Kan Man Wai will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed five
independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the Board and with at least one of
whom having appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received annual independence confirmation
from each of Mr. Wong Yik Chung John, Mr. Wong Chi
Chiu and Mr. Li Shui Yan and independence confirmation
from each of Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man Wai
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Board considers all independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year.
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According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

Under the current management structure of the Company,
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (“Mr. Cheng”) is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer. With Mr. Cheng’s extensive
experience in the industry, the Board believes that vesting
the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person would provide the Company with strong
and consistent leadership, allow for effective and efficient
planning and implementation of business decisions and
strategies, and would be beneficial to the business
prospects and management of the Group.

Although Mr. Cheng performs both the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, the division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is
clearly established. In general, the Chairman is
responsible for supervising the functions and performance
of the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the management of the business of the
Group. The two roles are performed by Mr. Cheng
distinctly. The Board also considers that the current
management structure does not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company given the appropriate
delegation of the power of the Board and the effective
functions of the independent non-executive Directors.
However, it is the long-term objective of the Company to
have these two roles performed by separate individuals
when suitable candidates are identified.
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The Board has established, with written terms of
reference, three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties. The
written terms of reference for each Board committee are
in line with the GEM Listing Rules and are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively.

The Company has established an audit committee on 20
January 2014 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and
code provision C.3 of the CG Code. The audit committee
consists of five independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Yik Chung John, who has the
appropriate accounting and financial related management
expertise and serves as the chairman of the audit
committee, Mr. Wong Chi Chiu, Mr. Li Shui Yan, Mr. Cho
Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man Wai. Mr. Cho Chi Kong and
Mr. Kan Man Wai were appointed as members of the
audit committee with effect from 1 January 2020.

The primary duties of the audit committee are (but without
limitation) to assist the Board in providing an independent
view of the effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting process and internal control and to review the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
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The audit committee held four meetings during the year. BZZES@NFRNETHEISHE - EKE L@
lts composition and attendance of individual members at Bl ERNZEERLZEe g2 ERTNT
these audit committee meetings are as follows:
Number of audit
committee
meetings
Members of the audit committee attended/held
HEBITH
EREEE
EREEERE BERRE
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John ERAKE 4/4
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu =EEHBELE 4/4
Mr. Li Shui Yan Fin Bk E 4/4
During the vyear, the audit committee reviewed the RFER @ BEE E®%lﬁ$“ﬂ2¢fﬁﬁ7ﬁ%$ﬁ
Company’s annual financial statements, annual results & - E?%FE CHEREFEERE RWmE
announcement, interim and quarterly announcements and 7 # & i 57 A& & & l ZANEEZEREREIER

reports; discussed and reviewed the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group; reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function;
met with the independent external auditors and reviewed
report from the independent external auditors regarding
their audit on annual financial statements.

The Company established a remuneration committee on
20 January 2014 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.1 of the CG Code. The
remuneration committee consists of five members, the
majority of whom are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Chiu, who serves as the
chairman of the remuneration committee, Mr. Cheng Wai
Tak, Mr. Wong Yik Chung John, Mr. Cho Chi Kong and
Mr. Kan Man Wai. Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man
Wai were appointed as members of the remuneration
committee with effect from 1 January 2020.
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The primary duties of the remuneration committee include
(but without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policies on such remuneration; (ii) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management; and (i) reviewing and
approving performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two
meetings for, inter alia, reviewing the policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board regarding the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and director’s fee of independent non-
executive Directors, as well as the director’'s fee of the
new independent non-executive Directors who were
appointed on 1 January 2020. The remuneration
committee was satisfied with the existing arrangement
and did not make recommendation to the Board on any
change of such policy and structure. Mr. Wong Chi Chiu,
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak and Mr. Wong Yik Chung John
attended those meetings.

Each of the Directors will receive a fee which is subject to
an annual adjustment at a rate to be reviewed by the
remuneration committee and be determined at the
discretion of the Board. The Company’s policy concerning
the remuneration of the Directors is that the amount of
remuneration is determined by reference to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibilities, workload and time
devoted to the Group. The Group has adopted incentive
bonus schemes and continues to maintain these schemes
in order to align the financial well-being of the Group with
that of the employees, and to retain the Directors and
staff of high caliber.
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The Company established a nomination committee on 20
January 2014 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision A.5 of the CG Code. The
nomination committee consists of five members, the
majority of whom are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, who serves as the
chairman of the nomination committee, Mr. Wong Yik
Chung John, Mr. Li Shui Yan, Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr.
Kan Man Wai. Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man Wai
were appointed as members of the nomination committee
with effect from 1 January 2020.

The primary functions of the nomination committee
include making recommendations to the Board to fill
vacancies on the same, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board.

During the vyear, the nomination committee held two
meetings for, inter alia, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and board diversity policy,
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-
election of Directors and succession planning for directors
and assessment of the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of new independent non-
executive directors. Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Wong Yik
Chung John and Mr. Li Shui Yan attended those
meetings.
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The Company’s policy for the nomination of Directors (the
“Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Company
pursuant to Board resolutions. The Nomination Committee
will review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and wiill
discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Nomination Policy is set
out as follows:

This policy sets out the criteria and procedures to
be adopted when considering candidates to be
appointed or re-elected as Directors.

The Nomination Committee shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorship:

° Character and integrity;

o Qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy;

o Willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board;

° Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

° Requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the GEM Listing Rules; and
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Such other perspectives as are appropriate to
the Company’s business or as suggested by
the Board.

3.1.1 The Nomination Committee reviews the
structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board periodically and
makes recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

3.1.2 When it is necessary to fill a causal
vacancy or appoint an additional
director, the Nomination Committee
identifies or selects candidates
recommended to the Committee, with or
without assistance from external
agencies or the Company, pursuant to
the “Nomination Criteria” set out above;

3.1.3If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable);

3.1.4 The Nomination Committee makes
recommendation to the Board including
the terms and conditions of the
appointment; and

3.1.5 The Board deliberates and decides on the
appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.
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3.2.1 In accordance with the Company’s
articles of association, every director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and shall
be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting;

3.2.2 The Nomination Committee shall review
the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director. The
Nomination Committee shall also review
the expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring director who
offered himself/herself for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to determine
whether such director continues to meet
the “Nomination Criteria” as set out
above; and

3.2.3 Based on the review made by Nomination
Committee, the Board shall make
recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company,
and provide the available biographical
information of the retiring director in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
to enable shareholders to make informed
decisions on the re-election of such
candidates at annual general meeting of
the Company.

The shareholders of the Company may
propose a person for election as a director in
accordance with the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company and
applicable law. For more details, please refer
to the section in Company’s website “Investor
Relations — Corporate governance —
Procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as director”.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of aspects, including (but not
limited to) gender, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and educational background. All appointments
of the Board members will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board. The Board will consider setting measurable
objectives to implement the Diversity Policy and review
such objectives from time to time to ensure its
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives. Current Board members have
varied educational backgrounds and expertises, diverse
perspectives and competencies in areas which are
relevant and valuable to the Group, including accounting,
corporate finance, strategic planning, business
development and management.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried
out by the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of
reference adopted by the Board, which include (a)
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company and its subsidiaries; (c) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors and its subsidiaries; (e) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in the corporate governance report of the
Company required to be prepared pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules; and (f) considering, reviewing and deciding
any other topics as authorised by the Board.
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During the year, the Board reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was
satisfied with the effectiveness of its corporate
governance policy.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

During the year, all of the Directors (except Mr. Cho Chi
Kong and Mr. Kan Man Wai who were appointed as
independent non-executive Directors with effect from 1
January 2020) received training materials, including from
the Company and its legal advisers, to keep them abreast
of the latest development of legal, regulatory and
corporate governance. They have read the relevant
training materials and the Company has received their
records of training.

The Group, together with its legal advisers, continuously
update the Directors on the latest developments regarding
the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for
that period. The Directors continue to adopt the going
concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial
statements and are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors in financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report
attached to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 in this
annual report.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration
paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:

BHE-_Z-NF+_A=+—BLFE 3%Mm
RENBARIFERABRBENIEN TELIR
KBEFEEHAOMEFIN DT

Remuneration

Services rendered paid/payable
P 42 14t AR 7% B EA#ME
HK$’000

FET

Audit services Ei R 800
Non-audit services IEEFT R 95
Total st 895

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to maintain an
effective risk management and internal control systems in
order to safeguard the Group’s assets and investments
and the shareholders’ interest. The Board oversees the
overall risk management of the Group and endeavors to
identify, control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. Such
risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Group has established a risk management policy
setting out the process of identification, evaluation and
management of the principal risks affecting the business.
Each division is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its divisions, identifying and
assessing the principal risks on a quarterly basis with
mitigation plans to manage those risks. The management
is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control activities of the Group, attending quarterly
meetings with each divisions to ensure principal risks are
properly managed and new or changing risks are
identified and documented. Lastly, the Board is
responsible for reviewing and approving the effectiveness
and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.
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The risk management framework, coupled with the
Group’s internal controls, ensures that the risks
associated with different divisions are effectively controlled
in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management report was submitted to the audit
committee and the Board for review.

The Group does not have an internal audit function within
itself. Nevertheless the Company engaged an external
consultant, CT Partners Consultants Limited to carry out
internal audit function and had during the year conducted
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The review
covered, inter alia, the internal control systems over the
electronic signage business, the sales and receipt cycle
over the Group’s display products and optics products,
and the external consultant made recommendations for
improving the Group’s internal control systems. The
internal control review report was submitted to the audit
committee and the Board for review. The audit committee
has requested the management to follow up with the
recommendations of the external consultant to remedy
control issues identified and to further improve the
Group’s internal control system.

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of accounting
and financial reporting functions. After having conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, the Board has reached the
conclusion that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems were in place and effective. The Board
will review and assess the risk management and internal
control systems at least once a year. The Company has
established a whistle-blowing policy and system for
employees of the Group to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control and
other matters. No significant areas of concern that may
affect the financial, operational, compliance, controls and
risk management of the Group have been identified.
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With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has adopted a policy on
disclosure of inside information, with an aim to ensure
that the insiders abide by the confidentiality requirement
and fulfill the disclosure obligation of inside information.
The policy describes clearly the decision trees to identify
inside information and take necessary actions. Employees
and other relevant parties are required to keep inside
information in strict confidence. The Group is committed
to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading, or false or misleading through
omission of a material fact in view of presenting
information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and
investors with high standards of disclosure and financial
transparency. The Board is committed to providing clear
and detailed information of the Group to its shareholders
in a timely manner and on a regular basis, through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or
dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the Company’s
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and other
members of the respective committees are available to
answer questions from the shareholders at the general
meeting. The Company recognises the importance of
maintaining on-going communications with the
shareholders and encourages them to attend general
meetings to stay informed of the Group’s businesses and
convey any concerns they may have to the Directors and
senior management.

The Company maintains a website at
http://www.perfect-optronics.com where extensive
information and updates on the Company’s financial
information, corporate governance practices and other
useful information are posted and available for access by
the public investors.
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At the annual general meeting held in 2019, separate
resolutions were proposed by the chairman in respect of
each separate issue, including the re-election of directors
and voted by way of poll. The Company announced the
results of the poll in the manner prescribed under the
GEM Listing Rules. The respective chairman of the Board,
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee attended the annual general meeting held in
2019 to ensure effective communication with
shareholders. All Directors attended the annual general
meeting held in 2019.

Pursuant to Article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting. Extraordinary general
meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one
or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company with voting rights in the general
meetings attached thereto. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

>
HeE
il
s
e
ofF

RZFB-NFRTZBRRBAFREL TFEH®
BEUEIE BREEES REBLRIR -
WA TR ARIR - AR AMRIEGEM L1 4 Bl
REZTAEMREZER - EEE BEHRZE
g FHEZEERERZEERIFEHFEC
E-NFETORREFAS  BERERRE
HEMER FEEEHEHER-_T—ILF
BIWRRBEAR -

REARBMABRERMAFAME EFEAE
ERRBEENEMNRRERARKRSIAE - i
—AHZERRIFLARAAFAETLIRA
RAIERRBREAG LRENARER+DZ
—HBRRRERFR T ARBRRENAR -
ZmKANEARARAARRESTELARA
MENRARMENRR WEREEZSAHMK
RERPAE BEZXARLAEANETMEE-
ZERANRERZBREMEARNET - HE
EFEARENRBRZBRBEARANBRZEH
ABKATBTRRAETAEBHEEHE MAK
AREEEREAREEMELNMARIER
XA AARRR G RKAFELHE -

2019 F 3R

41



42

>
M
R
o
S
Of

Article 113 of the articles of association of the Company
provides that no person other than a retiring Director,
shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be
eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice
in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registered office. The period for lodgment of the notices
required under this Article will commence no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting
and the minimum length of the period during which such
notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7
days. The written notice must state that person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. The procedures for shareholders of
the Company to propose a person for election as director
is posted on the Company’s website.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by mail to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong. The Company Secretary forwards communications
relating to matters within the Board’s purview to the
Board and communications relating to ordinary business
matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and complaints, to
the Chief Executive Officer.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

The Company Secretary, Mr. Tse Ka Wing (“Mr. Tse”), is
an employee of the Company. He was appointed as an
Executive Director with effect from 26 March 2015. He
reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters. The
biographical details of Mr. Tse are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management”.
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During the year, Mr. Tse has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in accordance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year, there was no change to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company, dividends may be paid out of the profits of the
Company, or subject to solvency of the Company, out of
sums standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company. However, no dividend shall exceed the
amount recommended by Directors of the Company.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends
of the Company is subject to the approval of the
Directors of the Company, depending on results of
operations, working capital, financial position, future
prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any other
factors which the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. Any future declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends of the
Company may or may not reflect the historical
declarations and payments of dividends and will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors of the Company. The
Company does not have any predetermined dividend
payout ratio.
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The Group reaffirms its commitment towards measuring,
managing and reporting its performance on environmental
and social aspects. This is the Group’s fourth
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report,
addressing all relevant material issues and fairly presents
ESG performance of the Group and its impacts.

The report aims to be plain, clear and easy-to-read. The
Board of Directors (the “Board”) acknowledges its
responsibility for ensuring the integrity of the ESG report
and confirms that it has reviewed and approved the
report.

This ESG report is prepared in compliance with the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The reporting principles
of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance, and Consistency
underpin the content of this ESG report. Data in this
report are analysed to account for year-on-year changes
and presented in a way that allows for consistent
comparison.

The report describes the Group’s initiatives and progress
in respect of ESG related issues for the year from 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2019. It covers all
operations of the Group. Additional information pertaining
to the Group’s sustainability performance, including
comprehensive financial information and data, can be
found in this annual report.
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The Group is principally engaged in trading, development
and sale of display and optics products and related
electronic components. The Group also processes some
of the products which it trades through processing service
providers.

To manage its ESG performance effectively, the Group
has established an ESG working group that reports to the
Board comprising senior management who have adequate
knowledge of both ESG matters and operations. Striving
to be a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has
embedded environmental and social considerations into its
operations, as well as strategic decision-making process.
The Group has been adhering to an ESG policy since we
published our first ESG report for the year ended 31
December 2016. The ESG policy comprehensively covers
sustainability issues, enabling the Group to maximise
positive impacts and minimise negative impacts to its
stakeholders.
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Environment
B

e Conserve resources
REBR

¢ Raise environmental awareness among
its employees

e B BIRIR T

People
BT

e Protect employees’ rights
IRFE B TR

e Provide training for continuous development
REFHERRIZ

e Create a safe and healthy workplace
MEL 2 REENTIERE

The ESG Policy
RE & RERRE
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Building strong relationships with our stakeholders enables
us to align our strategy in line with long-term values and
operate the business in a sustainable way. The Group has
a wide network of stakeholders, including shareholders,
investors, employees, customers, suppliers, processing
service providers, the government and the community. We
communicate with stakeholders on an ongoing basis
through different channels. Below are the communications
channels and topics that stakeholders are concerned
about.

B 455 10 & 12 32 A% B # B8 R o TR AT BE 50 S R A B
EHEERFT —BRLAATFSEERN ST ALE
X -AKEBRERZNFNERG  BEK
R -WEE BB EBEP HER NIRBGH
R BAEEER - RAFEEBTRARER
RNERTBEB - TRAKNERBRARENRE
BEEVERE e

Shareholders/Investors Employees Customers Suppliers/Sub-contractors The Government Community
RR/REE &8 ®F HER, 288 B "HE
Concerned Topics
BrEE

e Corporate governance ®  Welfare and benefits ¢ Product ¢ Product and service ¢ Taxation compliance e Community

TEER B R responsibility quality REER investment
*  Risk management o Training and EREFT EmkBBER o Regulatory compliance HERE

Bk 2 development o Data privacy o Business ethics EEAR
o Operations and EIRERE YELE EE3 *  Business ethics

strategy o Occupational health and HEEE

BERKRE safety

BERERERZ2
Communications Channels
BERE

¢ Annual general *  Reporting channels e Grievance channels ¢  Regular meetings e Compliance with laws ¢ Donations

meeting RERSE BFRE THEH and regulations BH

BEREFRE o Meetings BFERRER
o Corporate reporting e o Responses to

rERE o Trainings government policies

b LERBFHER
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Striving for maximum customer satisfaction is always on
the top of our priorities. To do that, the Group aims to
maintain the highest standard of service and product
quality by working closely with its suppliers and
processing service providers.

BE HERERRSE
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e Supplier agreement
sets out the
requirements of
product standard
and delivery
inspection
HIERE 7551
EmiRAE BRI
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Processing Service
Providers

INT AR rERS

* Review regularly
their performance to
ensure a high yield
rate for the products
TEHpRET AR -
ERERERER

e To maintain the
highest standard of
service and product
quality
IR SITAER
R REMER

We value the feedback from customers and have
established a grievance resolution mechanism. In case of
any product defects, responsible personnel records the
problem in a complaint form which lists out the name,
application and quantity of the products, as well as the
number of defective products. After investigation and
analysis conducted by the responsible department, we
take appropriate actions including replenishment when
applicable.

Apart from having a sales and marketing team which
continuously provides high quality service, the Group also
has an experienced technical team to provide suitable
technical support and prompt response to customers’
requests.

BMBEREPHNER R - WARIL A FAERE
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The Group enriches its products portfolio through the
sales of medium-to-large sized display products, such as
display modules for computer notebooks, monitors and
televisions. We showcased the latest electronic signage
display products at the Retail Asia Conference & Expo in
Hong Kong in May 2019 to enhance the market's
awareness and interest. Looking ahead, we will adopt
flexible strategies to expand products diversity, widen
customer base and introduce new suppliers from different
territories.

Having a long-term and stable relationship with our
suppliers is a key ESG topic for us. The Group is
committed to maintaining a mutually beneficial relationship
with its suppliers to ensure steady supply of high quality
and trustworthy products. We procure display
components and engage sub-contractors to process
some of the products that we sell.

Our supplier agreements set out the requirements of
product standards and delivery inspection. Suppliers have
to provide product specifications and samples for product
inspection. In case of any quality problems being found,
the suppliers provide replenishment or exchange service
after agreement. We also review regularly the
performance of our processing service providers. We have
signed process contracts with processing service
providers to ensure a high yield rate for the products.
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The basis of supplier selection is the price quote, service,
quality and reputation. On top of that, we collaborate with
suppliers with strong integrity and goodwill for managing
environmental and social aspects.
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Price € Employment inclusiveness Avoid use of conflict

BE1% EEZ i minerals

Quality ¢ Lawful compliance B AE AT RIRY)

gE EEEHR Adopt energy-saving
Service @ Protection of human rights and material-saving

R 7% IRIEARE products

Reputation AR RE METKV VIRV E &
BER

Supplier Selection Criteria

HEBKERE

The Group encourages suppliers and processing service
providers to share its values on managing environmental
and social aspects, including environmental protection,
human rights and product responsibility. Our major
suppliers have established sound social responsibility
systems and have incorporated social responsibility into
their respective strategies, styles of management and
long-term development goals in their entire business
operations.

The Group respects the privacy of its customers and
maintains the highest level of security and confidentiality.
We operate in a manner compliant with applicable laws
and regulations and have clearly communicated the
confidentiality agreement to all employees. Employees are
expected to protect customer information against
improper disclosure, misuse or unauthorised use, loss,
damage or corruption. During the year, the Group
complied with all relevant laws and regulations' relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters concerning products and services provided.

T List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”.
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The Group strives to promote fair competition and protect
the interests of its business partners and suppliers. We
have zero tolerance for misbehaviours which may cause
damage to competitors’ goodwill or infringement of
competitors’ trade secrets. There is a strict guidance on
anti-corruption prevention to ensure probity and clean and
corruption-free operations.

Management

EEE

AEBEHNETAFHFLRELXEBEH R
HEBNOMNE BB T RRAIRBEELTY
FHAEBARLRFHFITEUTNLET
B BMRIBRORESENES - BERB
BRETEBRNXBLE-

. To establish, improve and effectively
implement anti-fraud programs and
controls including fraud risk assessment
and fraud prevention
R B MBRCRE R B AR fIE G
BIEFERE b R R TR ST R

. To conduct self-assessment

#1T 8 G

v

« To guide anti-fraud work « To organise and implement anti-fraud « To undertake anti-fraud work in
o EERFERTIE work across departments corresponding departments

ERBPIEBREBITRELR T

REREPIRETTREER T

« To establish whistle-blowing channels

FUBEHRE

Anti-Fraud Management

[REEERE R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

We have set up an Anti-Fraud Management System which
aims to prevent bribery, blackmail, fraud and money
laundering, and hence strengthen corporate governance
and internal control. It is established in accordance with
all relevant laws, industry standards and guidelines
relating to corruption.

e Establish an anti-corruption
culture by participative
ICAC training
BBLEERAZE -

B RESXE

Request employees to
declare any forms of
conflict of interest
LR B THIREM
AR =R
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Promptly and thoroughly
examine all reported cases
Ko B NP R B &S A SR R =B

Keep investigation
information confidential

Refer to responsible law
enforcement authorities

if necessary

A M EENT BB HEB

The Anti-Fraud Management System
[REEBREIRHIE

In 2019, the Group participated in the Hong Kong
Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”)
training session with three members of the Board
involved. The primary purpose of the training is to help
employees have better approaches to prevention of
unlawful behaviours.

During the year, we were not aware of any breach of
laws and regulations? that had a significant impact on the
Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

OUR PEOPLE

The Group is committed to implementing the best
practices of labour relations. Externally, we are dedicated
to helping the underprivileged through continuous
community involvement.

2 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”.
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As at 31 December 2019, there were 74 employees in Eiz?: ZE-NF+ZA=+—H0 ZMHET
total. 62% were located in mainland China, whereas %2 A74A  62%5 X & A ﬁ?—l—38%7%%c
employees in Hong Kong and Taiwan accounted for the /%)32‘* BB T o B A5 2tk il /66 : 34 ©
remaining 38%. The ratio of male to female is 66:34. Of T 42 & #68% /531 2505% °

the total 68% of employees were aged 31-50 years.

Geographical distribution Gender profile Age profile
#h & 5 M BIAR R FHRAMR
4% 13%
19%
34% a4
62% 66%

68%

Hong Kong
)

Male B Female <31 [l 31-50 >50
[ | xa;nlﬂaqmmd China B ey
Gl
Taiwan

A ]
==

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group strives to {FAFEHERET  KEEH N AL ERES
create a diverse and inclusive workplace for all #—AZT{tEEBRMUN ITIEEE  BFA
employees, providing equal opportunities in all aspects of EEREFSHE  TwmFH 1ER  REMN
employment regardless of age, gender, family status, %~ MEEUA -~ fEHE - SRR EAM i%ﬁl ° $
sexual orientation, ethnicity, creed and religion or other HSBHTMEANBERERRREAR DR
characteristics. The Group has zero tolerance to any form [ WE EZM 1T A28 UINEE B =& i
of harassment and discrimination and has developed a E\Iéﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁk/g&&&ﬁgﬂ”ﬁ@ 75’5 i3
code of conduct for employees to reinforce their B@EBREENLIF FRIFEF I -

awareness in this regard. Any employee who becomes

aware of any existing or potential breach of the code is

encouraged to report promptly to the designated

department through the reporting channels.
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The Personnel Management System clearly sets out
policies regarding recruitment, promotion, compensation,
working hours, rest periods, dismissal, benefits and
welfare measures. Working hours and rest periods are
established based on the relevant laws and regulations.
While the Group does not have operations in locations
where child labour risk is relatively high, we work with our
suppliers and processing service providers to ensure there
are no forced or child workers employed in their
production facilities. During the year, the Group was not
aware of any instance of non-compliance with laws and
regulations® having a significant impact on the Group
relating to employment and labour practices. Nor did the
Group identify any incidents relating to the use of child or
forced labour.

To retain talents and recognise their contribution to the
Group, we offer competitive remuneration packages and
welfare including medical benefits, social insurance,
provident fund, bonus, share options scheme, etc. Our
employees’ remuneration packages are reviewed once a
year to ensure that they match the prevailing market
standards.

The Group places strong emphasis on offering training
and promotion opportunities to its employees. To equip
our talents with the knowledge and skills necessary for
their positions, internal training programs are arranged for
employees, aiming to improve their technical
understanding of products and improve their sales
performance. Promotion mechanism and career
development path are provided to motivate talented
employees to grow with the Group.

8 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”.
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BE HERERRSE

The nature of our operations is office-based and this does
not involve activities that entail high risk of occupational
hazards. Nevertheless, the Group is committed to
providing a healthy and safe working environment for its
employees. We have implemented safety measures
according to the ESG policy.

BPAABAZEREIMNEERALBEB S RBER
TRBRRSHNEMES - BEML  AKED
HOREERHKBRELZENTHERE - KMAC
REBERE HEREARRETLZE2ER

Prohibit smoking and drinking in office and warehouse
BRI A E M B BRI E &R

N B IE I K 158

<

Provide training and assistance when needed

Keep the workplace clean and clear

R LRSI F R

Implement safety emergency plan

BTk RERE

Safety Measures

ZEEE

During the year, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations*
that have a significant impact on the Group, relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

The Group strives to create positive impacts to the local
community by making charitable donations. Since 2017,
the Group has been sponsoring Heep Hong Society, an
organisation committed to helping children and youth with
diverse needs.

During the year, the Group donated HK$100,000 to the
charity to arrange a series of play-based educational
programmes for children from low-income families. We are
glad to be part of this initiative to collaboratively create a
better tomorrow for children and youth with diverse
needs.

4 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”.

CERERRERBLBIERRER] -
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The major environmental impact of our operations
originates from the indirect carbon emissions generated
from electricity consumption by office premises and
warehouses. The environmental impacts are, however,
relatively insignificant due to limited resources
consumption and emissions generated. The Group’s
operations do not involve any material use of packaging
materials.

During the vyear, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations®
that have a significant impact on the Group, relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. To ensure compliance, we are committed to
operating in an environment-friendly manner by
implementing policies and management approach. The
environmental management policies, including but not
limited to the ESG policy are established to minimise the
use of energy and water.

5 List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”.
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Major types of resources consumed by the Group’s daily
operations are electricity, gasoline and water. In 2019,
gasoline used by private vehicles and electricity consumed
by office premises were 15,972 litres and 140,968 kWh,
respectively. The total energy consumption was
approximately 1,016,529 MJ and the intensity was 294
MJ per m2. There was about 21% reduction in energy
consumption compared to the preceding year.

AEEHFEEEZTEZEHRANEREAAE
R EK e R —NF - RREW A KT
NEMETEFED B A15,9722 F+ 140,968 F
R - R HMEAE B11,016 520k EE M &
EAREFHKAKEE - R BERR E—FR
D #21% ©

Energy Consumption and Intensity
REREEREE

1,500,000 500
= 1,200,000 347 400 NAR
=i 294 R
5% 900,000 709,706 300 2\
g?) 509,044 S
218 600,000 o00 2%
S 2>
O c
300,000 572,519 507,485 100 {%
0 0
2018 2019
—T-N\F —TNF
Electricity N Gasoline e nergy intensity
TH A BeREE
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Our operations generate some carbon emissions directly
by way of petrol consumed by vehicles (Scope I) and
indirectly from purchased electricity consumption (Scope
). In 2019, the total greenhouse gases (“GHG”) emission
amounted to approximately 116 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (tCO,e”), with Scope | and Scope Il carbon
emissions being approximately 42 tCO,e and 74 tCO.,e
respectively. The emission intensity was computed as
0.03 tCO,e per m?,

BE HERERRSE

BANEBEHAE RN OB (BE ) ER
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GHG Emission and Intensity
BEREBHREREE
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The Group’s total water consumption was 577 tonnes. ANEER/KEE ASTTHE - KERE AT T 7K
The water intensity was 0.38 tonnes per m2. There was no  0.38lf - /£ E A B /K &R H E I EHE -
issue in sourcing water that is fit for the purpose.

Water Consumption and Intensity

RAKEREE
600 0.5
0.38
7 480 04 _
gg 3in
83 360 0.3 g%
= 0 AN
EX 240 02 2&
> [}
e g
S 120 01 —H
0 0
2018 2019
ZE-N\F —E-NF
Water consumption e \/\/ater intensity
ke IKEE
Air Pollutant Emission (kg) Petrol consumption for business commute by the
?Eaﬁ%‘%%ﬂﬁi% (/ZA\)_T_) Group emitted approximately 0.2kg sulphur oxides
15 (“SOx”), 8.4kg nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) and 0.6kg
0.9 particulate matters (“PM”).
> A gk BB R 2 7 W FE 0T IR KI0 22 T R EAE ) -

BAR T REALY RO.6A T BT AL

9 0.6
The Group’s office generates some garbage which is

12.7 8.4 handled by the management of the office buildings.

6 Our operations do not generate other non-hazardous
waste and hazardous waste.

3 AEBOBAEEEE TR ARARLEEEE
0 0.3 0.2 B-RAMNEBEETNELEMBEEEZENLERE
) o
2018 2019
—E-N\F —ET-NF

SOx m NOXx PM
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Let S \ul:l

vl l—‘-l Fﬂﬁ

1“22 FIHJC

The Group implements energy- and resources-saving
practices by participating in “Let’s GO” since 2017. It is a
green office scheme aiming to incorporate environment-
friendly habits into the Group’s daily operations.

Let’'s GO is designed based on some simple yet effective
green assessment, requiring employees to make a pledge
to contribute to a greener workplace and following the
green office guidelines. It helps induce behavioral change
and reduce environmental footprint within the office
space.

BE HERERRSE
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During the year, the Group has maintained the following

R

~
Y

Energy B

Plastic ¥2%}

Switch off equipment
when not in use

RAEA FE(E A
HIRR 1

Use switch-sockets
to avoid redundant
energy use

i IR

LA R BREIR

Paper #5&

Purchase office
equipment with
high grades of
energy efficiency
Iabels
BRI
i&%lJm SRS 3

Clean air conditioners
periodically
TE B2 2R

Provide sufficient

reusable

tableware to avoid

disposable

utensils

R R A EIR

ERAMEA - #R
—RMEFEAA

Water 7K

resources conservation and energy saving practices in  ENREFE )

office premises:

e Use electronic
supporting medium
to reduce printing
FAEFIA
A HIED

® Assign designated
area for paper
recycling
FEE HPIHRE A
(o] 45 55

e Collection tray for
waste copy paper
used on one side
is available next to
printers
TETEDR SR B
EIKAR - WS ED
—HE AR

e Periodically check
taps to ensure

there is no leakage
TE KR A K EESE -
WIRZARK

Green Office Initiatives
HEMAEREE

Annual Report 2019
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Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

Miscellaneous 18

FA AEECERRERTATERES

Purchase multi-
function devices,
such as printing,
scanning, fax
photocopy
FEEZThALRE
BIGRFTED - fo 4
BH - EEH

Design

publications with
fewer varnishes

and coatings

B RER LI
LR

Utilise web-
conferencing to
minimise business
trips
FREgEE
BRI HRTT

Reuse stationeries

BEREEAXA



The Group is committed to bearing its fair share of social
responsibility to address climate change and landfill
overload issues by conducting its business in an
environmentally responsible manner and adopting the
same management approach along the entire supply
chain.

The Group’s environmental policy stipulates its
commitment towards green procurement, which ensures
all products are sourced from suppliers that share our
values on mitigating environmental impacts.

We have established stable and long-term business
relationships with environmentally responsible processing
service providers for over ten years. By maintaining close
communication with suppliers, we monitor their
environmental compliance.

Our major suppliers have obtained certifications for
ISO14001 Environmental Management System and ISO
50001 Energy Management System. They have embedded
environmental protection concept in the stage of product
design, and constantly improve energy efficiency of
products and have reduced GHG emissions at the stage
of use through technological innovation.

For its processing service providers, the Group has
established internal control measures to monitor their
environmental compliance, ensuring that they have
registered with the relevant environmental protection
authority in accordance with the PRC laws and have
obtained a special licence before commencing operations.
The Group also undertakes regular site visits to check if
the processing service providers’ facilities meet our
required environmental standards.

BE HERERRSE
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RIE-HER

Considering all ESG aspects, the Group establishes and
implements relevant internal policies and departments to
ensure that the business operations adhere to all
applicable laws and regulations. The list of applicable laws

=
=]

=k 8=

B

and regulations is as follows:

Aspect
5H

Environmental Management

REER

Employment

&R

Occupational Health
and Safety
BEREERZ2

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption

R&ES

Laws and Regulations

EERER

Air Pollution Control Ordinance

(ZRFREH A

Water Pollution Control Ordinance

(k7 RE HEB)

Ozone Layer Protection Ordinance

(RERLEEHH)

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC
(PEAR{MBEARE RERE)

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC
(PEARLMEKREREE L)

The Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

(FEARANBERERERL)

Employment Ordinance

(ERRH)

Minimum Wage Ordinance
(RIETEHH)

Labour Law of the PRC
(PEARXNEE B %)

Labour Contract Law of the PRC
(hZEARENESHERE)
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC
(PEARANERLEAEIRE)
The Labor Standards Act of Taiwan
BEN(EBEER)

The Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance

(BEZZREERH)

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

(EERHERH)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
(hEARKMEBRZHHBE)

The Occupational Safety and Health Act of Taiwan
BEN(RER2ELER)

The Trade Descriptions Ordinance

(78 m 5t BB 1R 1)

The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(EAER (FLB) % H1)

Product Quality Law of the PRC
(FEARHNEEREER)

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

CBh Lk 56 % 4R 1)

The Competition Ordinance

(HE A

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC
(FZEARENBERFEERTE)

The Anti-Corruption Act of Taiwan
ABNC(ETAEEA)

Annual Report 2019
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Section
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ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT
RAEE

OUR PEOPLE
BMMET

Occupational Health
and Safety
BXEERZ2

OPERATING
PRACTICES
REER

Anti-corruption
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2
A

Workforce Demographics
EEBAOSK

B

Environment

Community
HE

Total Headcount
ETHAY
By Geographical Distribution
i & 5
Hong Kong
0
Mainland China
B A
Taiwan
aa
By Age
RERE D
<31
31-50
>50
By Gender
ZI1E R 5
Male
S
Female
i
Total Resources Consumption (MJ)
EREEBLECKEH)
Electricity (kWh)
BH(FRE)
Gasoline (litres)
AR (AT
Tap water (tonnes)
B Kok ()
Energy intensity (MJ/m?)
EEREBEKER /FHK)
Water intensity (tonnes/m?)
K (W 5 oK)
Emissions
HHhE
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg)
HmEALW(SOx) (A FT)
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg)
REALPINOX) (A FT)
Particulate matters (PM) (kg)
BOZ BORL(PM) (A7)

Greenhouse Gases Emissions and Intensity

BERBEREREE
Total GHG emissions (tCO,e)

RERBHREE (M _aRES)

Scope | (tCO,e)

HE—(M_SHE=E)

Scope Il (tCO.e)

HE (B _a{thE=
Emission intensity (tCO,e/m?)

HHMERE (M _f{iEs FHX)

Donation (HK$)
BROERT)

BE HERERRSE

2019
—E2-hE

74

25

46

14
50

10

49

25
1,016,529
140,968
15,972
577

294

0.38

0.2
8.4

0.6

116
42
74

0.03

100,000

2018
—EB-N\F

72

25

47

11
55

46
26
1,282,225
159,033
22,268
548

347

0.31

0.3
12.7

0.9

143

59

84

0.04

100,000
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KPIs
BiENER

. Environmental
e

> >
st 2

Aspect Al:
Emissions

EEAL: B

Aspect A2: Use of
Resources

BEA2: BRER

Aspect A3: The
Environment and
Natural Resources
BE A3: BHR
XRER

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERMRMER HLERERBRERIEX

General Disclosure
—BEE
Information on:

BEERRR

EREH

B AKRLBOES AEREEEEMNELSH

(@) the policies; and

B R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
BTHBTABTEAZENEREERANINER -

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous

and non-hazardous waste.

KPI A1.1

B AMETALT
KPI A1.2

BREWIREA12
KPI A1.3

B ERERALS
KPI A1.4

RS AN ERAL4
KPI A1.5

B AREERAS
KPI A1.6

HREWIEEALG

General Disclosure

—REE

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BihERE AR REE -

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

REREAPFREAEAE) R (ER)EE -
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

FELEEEZNAE UEAE) R(MER)BE -

The non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

MELBZEENEE UBHE) R(WER)BE -
Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved.

HRAEHRENBRRAERR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

HRRBREEREEEENN AL REELSNEBRAGHR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.

ERERER(
KPI A2.1

B ERIEEA21
KPI A2.2
BRERIEEA22
KPI A2.3

RS AN ERA23
KPI A2.4

BREmERA4
KPI A2.5

BRENERA2S

General Disclosure

—REE

BEER

KR EAM R OB
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh in’000s) and
intensity.
BENESMERLR /SIMEEREEE UTETREHE) REE -
Water consumption in total and intensity.
BREKERTE -
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

W REAMEA A RFAEMR

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,

water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

WK BEAKRELTEEFEE  URRABKRGEHERAERER -

Total packaging materials used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,

with reference to per unit produced.

U RAAREMHNAE UNHE) R (NER) SEEEMEE -

Policies on minimizing the issuers’ sigmficant impact on the environment and natural resources.

REETAYRERAAERERERY ENBE -

KPI A3.1

BB ERIERAS

Description of significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

HREBEDHRERAAERNEAY ERERBERBEHTENTD -
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Section/Remarks

55/

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT
REEE

Air Emissions and
Waste Management
REHNMREENER
Air Emissions and
Waste Management
RRERREEDER
Air Emissions and
Waste Management
REFRREEDER
Air Emissions and
Waste Management
REFRREERDER
Implementing Green
Office

ERGZERRE

Air Emissions and
Waste Management
RRERREEDER

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT
REEE

Resources
Consumption

BRER

Resource Consumption
BRARE
Implementing Green
Office

BHRABHAE
Resource Consumption

BERBRE
ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT
REEE

Implementing Green
Office, Maintaining a
Green Supply Chain
BiMERAE @5
GefEE
Implementing Green
Office, Maintaining a
Green Supply Chain
BiSERAE @5
GEfEE



KPIs
BREBIER

B. Social
BALE

Aspect B1:
Employment
EmEB1: Ef

Aspect B2: Health
and Safety
EMEB2: f#RH

ZE

Aspect B3:
Development and
Training

mB3: HER

1l

Aspect B4: Labour
Standards
EEB4 : TR

Aspect B5: Supply
Chain Management
EMmBS : e
B

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
ERBRMERR HEREGRERIIEX B/
General Disclosure OUR PEOPLE
—REE RAMET

Information on:
EREMERE BEREMA ITHESY RA TSEE Sl REGARAGEEREH:
(@) the policies; and
B R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
ETHETABERYENEREERANINESN -
related to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. Employee Composition
MREREEB RUER - EEERN FRAMNLEESNESAH EEAK

General Disclosure Occupational Health
—BHEE and Safety

Information on: BERREZS

EHRUZ2IRERREEEHEBELEEN

(a) the policies; and
& R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
ETHETARERYENERERZRANINESN -

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are  Occupational Health
implemented and monitored. and Safety
BREREREB23 HAMKANBERREAR2EE UREENTRERF & BEeRER2
General Disclosure Training and
—BEE Development

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of BIRER
training activities.

BRRABREGIERENMNBREENEE - HARIED -

General Disclosure OUR PEOPLE
—REE BMMET

Information on:

BEMELEIRRHSTIH

(@) the policies; and
BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
ETHBETABERZENERLERADINESN -

relating to preventing child or forced labour.

General Disclosure Maintaining a Green
— R E Supply Chain, Supply
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Chain Management
ERMEENREREGABYRE - EREfEE fE
BER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers and how they are Maintaining a Green
implemented and monitored. Supply Chain, Supply
Chain Management
BpEyEEBs.2 HPEREEAEEER UWREBRATRERE- BRnetER HE
EERE
2019 F 3}
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KPIs
BREBIER

Aspect B6: Product
Responsibility
EEB6:EmE(T

Aspect B7:
Anti-corruption
EEB7:RES

Aspect B8:
Community
Investment

EEBS: LEHE

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BERBMTMIRR HERERMERIEX BE MR
General Disclosure Customer Satisfaction
—REE EPMEE
Information on:
FRAMREERARBEMERAR BERLBEEARBERA AR
(@) the policies; and

BE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
ETHETARERYENEREERANINESN -

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Customer Satisfaction

MREREEBL HOEERTARRERBWER - EPREE

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are Customer Satisfaction
implemented and monitored.

BRENEEBSS HIEBEENRERLBEE URBERTREERE- EPREE

General Disclosure Anti-corruption

—REE R&B

Information on:

EBMEER BR HFERLEREES:

(a) the policies; and
& R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.
ETHETARERYENERERZRANINESN -

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the  Anti-corruption
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
MRERERB.  EEREAHETAFIHESRLATEBRLMNE SHARMNHUE RFRER RES
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are  Anti-corruption
implemented and monitored.
BRENEER2 HUMSEEREREF AREERTRERFE - R&F
General Disclosure Community Involvement
—REE tE2HE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities” interests.

BENHE2ERTREEMALERRNBEREAERBIDEERHRMAMIR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community Involvement
BRENEEBsT  EXEREE- itE2H
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Community involvement
BRENEEB2 TEIEABMDEER- tE2H
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Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, aged 50, was appointed as director
of the Company on 13 June 2013. He is the Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and executive Director of the
Company. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Cheng is also a founder
of the Group. He has been in the business of trading
TFT-LCD components for over 16 vyears and has
established close relationships with various suppliers. He
is responsible for formulating the Group’s overall strategic
planning and development, and management of the
Group’s business. He graduated from Hong Kong Baptist
University with a bachelor of science in combined
sciences in mathematical science degree. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Cheng is also a director of certain of
the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, the
British Virgin Islands, Samoa and Taiwan.

Mr. Liu Ka Wing, aged 47, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 18 June 2013. He joined the
Group in November 2008. He is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s administrative functions and
compliance issue; and assisting in the management of the
Group’s business. Mr. Liu has about 25 years of
experience in accounting. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in various certified public accountants firm and
corporations, responsible for general accounting functions.
Mr. Liu is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. Tse Ka Wing, aged 44, joined the Group in May 2013
and is the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company. He was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 26 March 2015. He is primarily
responsible for the financial management, supervision of
financial reporting and corporate finance matters of the
Group. Mr. Tse graduated from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong with a bachelor of business administration
degree. He is an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tse is
a professional accountant with over 22 years of
experience in accounting and had previously served as a
senior manager of an international firm of certified public
accountants.
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Mr. Wong Yik Chung John, aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
20 January 2014 and is responsible for providing
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Company.

He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong graduated from
the University of Melbourne, Australia with a degree of
bachelor of commerce. He was a member of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants and
was admitted as an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in April 1997. Mr. Wong
has more than 30 years of experience in auditing and
corporate finance work. Over the past three years, he
served as independent non-executive directors for the
following companies which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, namely China Apex Group Limited (stock
code: 2011) and China International Development
Corporation Limited (stock code: 264). He is currently
serving as an independent non-executive director for the
following companies which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, namely EcoGreen International Group Limited
(stock code: 2341), LongiTech Smart Energy Holding
Limited (stock code: 1281), Beijing Capital Land Ltd.
(stock code: 2868) and Xinjiang Xinxin Mining Industry
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3833).
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Mr. Wong Chi Chiu, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
20 January 2014 and is responsible for providing
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Company. He
is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a degree of bachelor of engineering in
electrical engineering. He further received his master of
science in engineering (building services engineering)
degree from The University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong was
registered as a chartered engineer (CEng) at the
Engineering Council in April 1998 and was registered as a
registered professional engineer in electrical discipline at
the Engineers Registration Board in July 1999. He has
been a member of The Institution of Engineering and
Technology since February 1998 and the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers since May 1998. Mr. Wong has
over 27 years of experience in the engineering industry.

Mr. Li Shui Yan, aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
20 January 2014 and is responsible for providing
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Company. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Li graduated from
National Chengchi University in Taiwan with a degree of
bachelor of business administration. Mr. Li has more than
22 years of experience in corporate finance. Currently, he
is the managing director of Dakin Capital Limited, a
licensed corporation to carry out type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activity under the SFO.
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Mr. Cho Chi Kong, aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2020 and is responsible for providing
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Company. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Cho has extensive experience in corporate law, legal
and regulatory compliance and prevention and detection
of fraud. Mr. Cho is a Non-practicing Barrister of The
Honorable Society of Lincoln’s Inn United Kingdom, the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, the Supreme Court of Australian Capital Territory
and the High Court of Australia. He is a Certified Fraud
Examiner of the Association of Certified Fraud Examiner
and a former President of the Hong Kong Chapter of the
Association of Certified Fraud Examiner, and is also a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
Mr. Cho has served as adviser and in-house legal
consultant on legal and compliance matters for
companies in Hong Kong and London. Mr. Cho teaches
post-graduate courses in corporate governance and
regulatory framework as a Professor of Practice (Law) at
the School of Accounting and Finance, the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He has also lectured at universities
in Hong Kong and Mainland China on corporate law,
securities law and business law. Mr. Cho is an
independent non-executive director of Mansion
International Holdings Limited, the shares of which are
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8456).

Mr. Kan Man Wai, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2020 and is responsible for providing
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Company. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company.
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Mr. Kan obtained a Diploma in Management Studies
awarded by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the
Hong Kong Management Association, and subsequently
obtained a Master’s Degree of Business Administration in
International Management from the Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology in Australia. He has over 35 years
of experience in the electronics manufacturing services
industry, including 23 years of experience at management
level of sales and business development and 4 years of
experience at management level of business operations.
Mr. Kan is a Vice President of Business Development for
Great China and Korea of Sanmina Corporation, a leading
electronics manufacturing services provider in the world
that serves original equipment manufacturers in
communications, medical, automotive, industrial and
defense and aerospace fields which is headquartered in
San Jose, California, USA and is listed on the Nasdaq
Stock Market. In his current position, he is responsible for
managing sales business, exploring new business and
introducing mergers and acquisitions.

Note: The executive Directors are also the senior management of the
Company.
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The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 13 June
2013 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 7 February 2014 (the “Listing Date”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

Business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 8 to 22 of this annual
report which forms part of this directors’ report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by

operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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To help conserve the environment, the Group has
implemented policies to encourage its employees for the
efficient use of energy and resources. Besides, the Group
has internal control measures in place to ensure that its
processing service providers comply with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

In addition, details regarding the Group’s environmental
policies and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on
pages 44 to 66 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) do
not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December
2019 amounted to approximately HK$479,044,000 (2018:
HK$480,057,000).

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to HK$100,000 (2018: HK$100,000).
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There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there was no
restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group, as extracted
from the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2015, 31
December 2016, 31 December 2017, 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2019, is set out on page 176 of the
annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
did not redeem any of its shares, and neither did the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any
of the Company’s shares.

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which was approved and adopted
pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole
Shareholder passed on 20 January 2014 (the “Adoption
Date”). The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme. The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
provide the Company with a flexible means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the Participants (as
defined below) and for such other purposes as the
Board may approve from time to time.
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On and subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Board may, at its discretion, invite:

(i) any director of each member of the Group or
of any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (“Invested
Entity”);

(i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of
each member of the Group or of any Invested
Entity (the “Employee”);

(i) any discretionary objects of a discretionary trust
established by any Employee or any director
of each member of the Group or of any
Invested Entity;

(iv) a company beneficially owned by any Employee
or any director of each member of the Group
or of any Invested Entity;

(v)  any consultant, professional and other adviser
to each member of the Group or any Invested
Entity (including their employees or executives
or any persons, firms or companies proposed
to be appointed for providing such services);

(vi) any chief executives or substantial shareholders
of the Company;

(vi) any supplier, customer, service provider,
business or joint venture partner, contractor,
of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any person who, at the absolute discretion of
the Board, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group or any Invested Entity, provided
that the Board may at its absolute discretion
determine whether or not one falls within the
above categories,
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(together, the “Participants” and each a
“Participant”), to take up share options to subscribe
for shares of the Company at a price determined in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

In determining the basis of eligibility of each
Participant, the Board would take into account such
factors as the Board may at its discretion consider
appropriate.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the Adoption Date.

The period as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine and specify in relation to any
particular option holder in his option agreement
during which the option may be exercised (subject
to such restriction on exercisability specified therein),
which shall be not greater than the period
prescribed by the GEM Listing Rules from time to
time (which is, as at the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme, a period of 10 years from the
date of the granting of the option).

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within the period from the date on which
such offer is made by the Board in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme to such date as the
Board may determine and specify in the letter where
such offer is made to a Participant in such form as
the Board may from time to time determine, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total
by the grantee.
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The subscription price in respect of each Share
issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted
hereunder shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to a Participant and shall be at
least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of offer, which must be a business
day;

(i) a price being the average of the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date
of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
immediately following completion of the Placing and
the Capitalisation Issue (as defined in the
Prospectus of the Company dated 24 January
2014) (being 132,000,000 Shares). The Company
may renew this limit at any time, subject to
shareholders’ approval and the issue of a circular
and in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
provided that the number of shares to be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under all the share option
schemes does not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the Company had
132,000,000 share options available to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 8.9% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
Participant under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding Options)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of Shares in issue. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their respective associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors. In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director of the
Company, or to any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption.

Save as the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year was the Company, its parent company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Ka Wing

Mr. Tse Ka Wing

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Yik Chung John

Mr. Wong Chi Chiu

Mr. Li Shui Yan

Mr. Cho Chi Kong (appointed on 1 January 2020)
Mr. Kan Man Wai (appointed on 1 January 2020)

By virtue of article 108 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Tse Ka Wing and Mr.
Li Shui Yan will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Tse Ka
Wing and Mr. Li Shui Yan will, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man Wai were appointed
as independent non-executive Directors with effect from 1
January 2020. In accordance with the article 112 of the
articles of association of the Company, Mr. Cho Chi Kong
and Mr. Kan Man Wai will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from Mr. Wong Yik Chung John, Mr. Wong
Chi Chiu and Mr. Li Shui Yan and independence
confirmations from Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr. Kan Man
Wai pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As
at the date of this report, the Board considers them to be
independent.

e
ot
g
s
Iff

ARRRAEEERAREAHRNESTR

HITEF -
B EERE(EE)
BRLEE
BRESLE

BUFHTEF

mEEREE

BEEBEE

FHBEE
ETHEE(R_ZE_TF-—A-BEZME)
BXRERLEER_F_ZFF-—A-HERD)

REBEARAR 2 ABERMAZE1081K @ BERIEEL
FHRREERFHRBEESNEREKRE
FRAERFRE -BEELE HREXER
FIRBEERTAERLIMEETRE (ML -

BEAARERBNBEECESZERB LI
TEE B-_Z_ZTF A -—BRER -RE
RAREABERMAIE 215 BEREERS
XEREHREERRBFAGRME AEE
HEERYBREEREE-

BIEGEM E T 4R B Z55.0916 2 42 F * AN A A
BESEERELALE EEBALERTHE %it
FEHZBIBRE - M&Emtﬁiﬁﬁx
FELAEEHZBYBRRE RAREEE

= Z‘E f&—r%;%i °

2019 F 3R

79



80

e
8t
g
_ﬁmH.
Iff

Except for the service contract with Mr. Tse Ka Wing
which commenced on 26 March 2018 for a term of three
years, each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing on 7 February 2017 except terminated
by either party giving not less than three months’ prior
written notice to the other. The service contracts with Mr.
Cheng Wai Tak and Mr. Liu Ka Wing are renewed for a
term of three years commencing on 7 February 2020.
They are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association.

Except for the appointments of Mr. Cho Chi Kong and Mr.
Kan Man Wai which commenced on 1 January 2020 for a
term of three years, each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 7 February 2017, except terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. They are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meeting. The appointments are renewed for a
term of three years commencing on 7 February 2020.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to
enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference
to market conditions and individual qualifications and
experience) and various in-house training courses. The
remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular
basis.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard to
the Group’s operating results, market competitiveness,
individual performance and achievement, to the Board for
determination.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in Note 33 and Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its
parent company was a party and in which a director of
the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every
director of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company maintains
directors and officers liability insurance, which gives
appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its
directors. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 67 to 71 of the annual
report.

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group.
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Based on the information available to the Company and
within the knowledge and belief of the Directors, none of
the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the
Company (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) have
any business or interest which competes or may compete
with the business of the Group, or have any other conflict
of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group throughout the year ended 31 December
2019.

As at 31 December 2019, interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) held by the Directors and chief
executives of the Company which have been notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or have been
entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the standard of dealings by directors set out
in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Name of Director Capacity
Esns %)

Mr. Cheng Wai Tak

B RE A SR EE RS
Beneficial owner
EnBEAEA
Note:

These 928,427,151 shares are held by Winful Enterprises Limited (“Winful
Enterprises”), which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Cheng
Wai Tak. As such, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in these 923,427,151 shares held by Winful Enterprises.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the standard of dealings by
directors set out in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Interest in controlled corporation

e
ot
g
s
Iff

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share

shares held capital
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So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December
2019, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, the following persons/entities have an interest
or a short position in the shares or the underlying shares
of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were required to be recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

Name Nature of interests

=x HEEE

Winful Enterprises
EnEakSs

Note: Mr. Cheng Wai Tak is deemed under the SFO to be interested in
these 923,427,151 shares held by Winful Enterprises.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no
other person had any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to
be recorded in the register of the Company required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 42.2% (2018: 47.5%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 11.3% (2018: 21.7%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 87.5% (2018: 96.2%) of the
total purchases for the year and purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to
approximately 69.2% (2018: 63.2%).

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
these major suppliers or customers.

The material related party transactions in relation to the
key management personnel remuneration as disclosed in
Note 31(c) to the consolidated financial statements are
connected transactions exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 20.31(6) of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float
required by the GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this
report.
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All the independent non-executive Directors were
delegated with the authority to review on an annual basis
the compliance with the non-competition undertaking
given by each of Mr. Cheng Wai Tak and Winful
Enterprises, the controlling shareholders of the Company
(collectively, the “Covenantors”) in favour of the Company
dated 20 January 2014 (the “Non-Competition Deed”).
The Covenantors have provided to the Company all
information necessary for the annual review by the
independent non-executive Directors and the Covenantors
have confirmed to the Company that each of the
Covenantors and his/its associates has not breached the
terms of the undertakings contained in the Non-
Competition Deed. All independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that they are not aware of any non-
compliance with the Non-Competition Deed by the
Covenantors during the year.

Details of the Non-Competition Deed have been set out in
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 23 to 43 of the annual report.
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The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire at the forth
coming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Perfect Optronics Limited

Cheng Wai Tak
Chairman
Hong Kong, 18 March 2020
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To the Shareholders of Perfect Optronics Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Perfect Optronics
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 96 to 175, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised
as follows:

° Inventory valuation and provision

° Valuation of unlisted investments
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Key Audit Matter
BREGFEHE

Inventory valuation and provision

FEAERRE

Refer to Note 2.13, Note 4.1(a) and Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FLMEA T RERNE2.13 M fE4.1(a) B M 5£20 »

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMANEBEANAEERRENSEHE

We understood and tested the controls by which
management determined the estimated selling price for
different types of products based on a consistent process
as in prior years where historically there were no material
adjustments required as a result of the estimation process.
B THRERAAEEERBEEHAFERMNEFEE TR
MERNEBMKENEZERE METYTERGERF
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Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

Inventory valuation and provision (Continued)

FEMAERBRE (R

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held inventories of
HK$32,445,000. As described in the accounting policies in
Note 2.13 to the consolidated financial statements,
inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
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The Group operates in a market where new product
releases are regular. There is a risk that inventories held will
be sold below cost or become obsolete in light of
technological advancement and changing market conditions.
There is inherent judgement in the levels of sales and the
selling price the directors forecast when assessing the net
realisable value (“NRV”).
EXBKgLEOmSTHETEREL -AEMBFER®E
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Management calculates the NRV at each period end based
on the estimated selling price less cost to sell, which
requires significant judgements and assumptions to be
made to determine the estimated selling price of individual
products of similar nature and expectation of future sales
based on current market conditions and available
information. The estimations are also subject to uncertainty
as a result of future changes of market trends, customer
demands and technology development.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHEBESANAEERRENSE

In relation to the types of products which had material
balances as at year end, we evaluated the assumptions
applied by management on using the historical sales data
which reflected the expected life cycle of similar products
as the basis to estimate their future sales. We considered
these assumptions appropriate based on the Group’s
historical sales pattern.
ARFREEREHRNERBLMNE  BHMETEHERE
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We further discussed with management to understand the
additional factors that were considered relevant based on
the current market conditions that may require adjustments
to the historical sales pattern for both the price and the
quantity of the selected products and obtained evidence for
these explanations. We independently evaluated the
relevance of these factors and evidence supporting the
estimation of the NRV by using our industry knowledge and
external market analysis and found them to be reasonable.
We further tested, on a sample basis, by comparing the
estimated selling price and sales quantity with post year-
end sales data of the selected products and found the
estimated selling price and sales quantity in the NRV
assessment to be within reasonable ranges.
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Based on the work performed, we considered that the
inventory provision provided was in line with the Group’s
policy and was supportable by historical market trends,
customer demands, technology development as well as
management’s expectations for future sales and inventory
management plans.

ERBMERTHNINE BMBRAARNFEFEREBR
& BEEEMOBE- imﬂ&m%@% BPEK - BHEE
RUAREEEY KRB ENEN R EE RSB -



Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

Valuation of unlisted investments

FETREZMGE

Refer to Note 3.3, Note 4.1(b), Note 18 and Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FL2HERA M BRI T3 - M 5T41(b) « M FE18 % i 7
Qo

1

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has unlisted
investments of HK$57,538,000 and HK$2,673,000
measured at fair value through profit or loss and at fair
value through other comprehensive income respectively,
using market information and significant unobservable
inputs.

R-ZB-NE+ A=+ —H FATHENREETRA
BB AEE . SSEEARAAGBEAABRRREAR
EBEFAEM2EKENIFLETERE D B 257,538,000/
7T 2,673,000/ T °

The Group has engaged external appraisers to assess the
fair values of these unlisted investments. The appraised
values are based on valuation models. Because of the
limited comparable transactions in the market, it is
challenging to validate the appraisal values and therefore
inherent risks in the appraised values remain.
SEEEAINBIEMTEZER ETREZRA(EE -
m‘wm BNAGEERESERE - BRMSE LA ERARZS
R ZEFGEEERRSE ARTHEEFEESRA

i o
2

We focused on this area because the valuation of
investments in unlisted investments is highly dependent on
the key assumptions which are not observable in the
market.

HRIFLETRENGEETSOABEERSR - EWH LA
BRE - MBEMEF A -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHEBESANAEERRENSE

We understood and tested the operating effectiveness of

related controls to determine that appropriate oversight

from directors had been exercised within the valuations

process.

ﬁfFﬁTﬁﬂfﬁ\ Eﬂﬁfﬁﬁti B EERR UBETESE
BERFEBEPLRHEE R -

As the valuation of the unlisted investments required
significant estimates and reliance on external valuations,
we assessed the objectivities, independences and
expertise of the external appraisers.

BRFETREZGHEEFTEENGE RERBEINBGEE
HMEFEINBT GO TE M BUMEREEM -

In addition, we also assessed both the methodologies and
assumptions used by management in the calculation of
the year end fair values by the following procedures:

AN RPIAFEEREAEFRAABEMAAN T E
RR®HR ZFET:

o Evaluated the methodologies and key assumptions
used in valuation models by comparing the
assumptions used against appropriate benchmarks
and investigated significant differences, challenging
the appropriateness of the pricing multiples
available from comparable companies and
assessing sensitivities to assumptions.
SAEERAGERAZEREERR  FEARKAH
EANRREES ?a*“tbf&uﬂaéﬁ%i Eal)

R ARNTEBEETEREREE R KT ARE
° Tested the data integrity for the valuation models.
HEEEMNBIBE TBERFETAR
o Used our valuation expert to perform independent

assessments.
MABRMNEERZRETE LM -

Based on the work performed, we considered the
assumptions used above all fell within an acceptable
range.

ERERTHIE BMARALEE2BEANBREE
RAlEZEHE -
2019 F 3R
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Annual Report 2019
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

ZMHBER  EHGEEMBHRRBEERE M
ERREFFRERMEFNERERRARGF
AEMARE AYLABFERME R XA H
FoHMER BATUHERARB)BERMNE
BB ZIABRERNEEMBEN - BHATE
ARENATAEMEMALE ESRAET
MEMFE - ERREZRKFHRE  ETEER
BRB(REBEANETHNERFT  EX—E
K 8 5R BRI 13 FE B AR BE R o #8 RR PR ] LA i
MEFRE R E MRS EERCMEFIE
MERAEFEFAMBRREREKRBELES
A BMRAIELMEERTE - BB BEAERR
MR WREERX -

ERB(EBEFEDETEANBES - K
PERTEXHE RETEXREEERE -
975

o FRMFEBENUFFRBRMEDG S M
BREGFEEAHERRAWER - Rt &
MITEAEFAREELRAR - A RER
FREMEENRFRR EARMERN
At - RMFEARESIRER BE &
BER ERRG EBRAREZREZ
£ R REEHEBERFEMERNE AR
AR BR At O B B = 7 0K BE 3% 3R IR 86 RR T 8 31
Y B K 5 AR BR B0 LB o

e  THEEHEBMAMZEH - URFEE
WETIEF -  BEENYIEY SEEAR
ZHRINERMEERER -

o« FEEFMRAEHRRMNE RIS
BiHEE AR RR AR -

2019 F 3R

93



94

BYZBM®RE

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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s HEERAKELLSHTERNBEMLE
4w o IRIBFMEDMM TS EE  EER
EFEHERZERABREBNENTEE
- RmARERY BEEENFELE
RNEEBARE MRBMIBA/FEE
APHEENE - AE 0 E A2 BN T+ 12
FEREBIERAMBRRTOMEMEK
BE-REAEANEKESE  BRMAEEH
FOEEBREBR - RPN EWEERNZH
B & B LA EVS M BAHERE - AW - R
RERRBERAEER EERBETERE

R AL
L o

s HESAMBHRRNEBIHRLIA BB
MAR BREEE ARKEEMBHRRE
BHERRXZMER -

. M OEEBANERIEBIINTBER
ERRER BEMNETRE UEYHEKAE
BB RERER -RMEE BE£EE
R EEMBT  RMAESEHER
EAEREEMEL -

FREMEREIN  RPEGEERRTAHENE
AEE BETH EAEFERE B8HER
fPIFEZE 5t 7P B K R RREE I O (E ] EABREA -

BREFRAEERRER FARMETEA
BV IENHRAEXERENR  WERBFEHE
BRI EMERSETERMBILENANA
BERMEMER AREBERNERT  HE
B 7y &6 45 BEe



From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ng Ka Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 March 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-F-NF+-A=t+—HILEE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross loss

Other gains, net

Distribution and selling expenses

General and administrative
expenses

Research and development
expenses

Operating loss
Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income/
(loss):

ltems that may be subsequently
reclassified to income
Statement

Currency translation differences

Items that will not be
subsequently reclassified to
income statement

Change in value of financial asset

at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive loss for the

year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note

iz
A 5, 6
& Bk AR 8

£ |

ﬁ@% 5% B8 7
786 R E X 8
—ﬁ&ﬁﬂﬁi

MERFAERX

EH

REER
UL ON
B &M

s &R FHE 10

%ﬁ SR ATE B
wm 11

FEBR
Hie2EWE (FE):

BE& AT EF 748
P FkZEE

SNEE I E =
BETEET L
E 6 ¥ N

BAREBEA
Hiv2mame

~

CRAEBES
FEREGRAHE

.

| =

I
%

m%

F
i
Iz

A

B il
el

i
m@m

EEXHAEBRARE
BBR:
RARIERFFA
JE4E IR AE S

Basic and diluted loss per share ®REAXR R #EEH18

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive

12

income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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2018
— N\
HK$’000
TAET

254,072
(268,428)

(14,356)
865
(11,761)
(26,867)
(3,365)
(55,484)
106
(460)
(354)

(55,838)
58

(65,780)

(265)

(26)
(56,071)
(65,780)

(65,780)

(56,071)

(56,071)

HK(3.76) cents
(8.76)7 1L

MA Ef7 A 2 et 7 & SR BE I P o — DFBIEE o
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As at 31 December 2019
RZZE-NAF+=ZA=+—H

2018
—F-N\F
Note HK$’000
B 5 FHE T
Assets BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y3 BB R 14 3,031
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 -
Intangible assets BREEE 16 3,122
Deferred tax assets EERIEE E 26 8
Financial asset at fair value EAREBERFA
through other comprehensive EfEmEmikzss
income TREEE 18 2,652
Financial asset at fair value BEAnBEFAERE
through profit or loss JEMEE 19 54,988
63,801
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 81,890
Trade and other receivables e U B 5 %
E th & U 3R 21 13,351
Tax recoverable Al W B 7 1B 265
Restricted bank deposits ZREHBITER 22 10,335
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 22 71,153
176,994
Total assets BEEMAEE 240,795
Equity and liabilities EakaE
Equity attributable to equity AAREEFAEA
holders of the Company FE A #E 2=
Share capital % 7K 23 14,837
Reserves & 117,036
Retained earnings BiF k= 72,092
203,965
Non-controlling interests R ER =
Total equity ERME 203,065

2019 3R Q7
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As at 31 December 2019
RZZE-NAF+=ZA=+—H

2018
—F-N\F
Note HK$’000
M 5 F& T
Liabilities 8&
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 =
Current liabilities ENBE
Trade and other payables FETEBR R &
H e 3R 24 27,850
Bank borrowings SRITE 25 8,979
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 =
Current income tax liabilities BEHMEHRAE 1
36,830
Total liabilities BEHAE 36,830
Total equity and liabilities EERkBEEE 240,795

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 175 HF96E175BNGA UK REAEN T _TF =
were approved by the Board of Directors on 18 March A+ \BHREESeitfE IRXEFSEHE -
2020 and were signed on its behalf.

Cheng Wai Tak Tse Ka Wing
BREE HRE
Director Director
BFE BE

The above consolidated statement of financial position A F4&AS B &R REXEEBEHHTTE —HEE -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_Z-hF+=-A=+—RHLEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAREREARGES
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(R&1) ()
Non-
Share Share Other Merger Revaluation  Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total interests Total equity
Bx  REEE HbHE  AHEE  ERHEE EXRE  SHUE B FEREE REEE
HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
AT TER TET AT TER TET AT TER TET AT
Balance at 1 January 2019 Z3-hE-RA-B&R 14837 465738 67,349 (415675) 46 (@) 72002 203985 - 203,965
Adjustment on initial adoption of MREHERSBRERAE16%
HKFRS 16 — Note 2.2 ZBE - [ - - - - - - (968) (968) - (968)
Adjusted opening balance at 1 January 2019 —F-AE-F-A2Z
HEEEE ] 14837 465738 67349 (415679) 46 (42 T14 202007 - 200997
Comprehensive loss 2AER
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (4078 (4078 (1570)  (35649)
Other comprehensive income B 2EKE
Currency translation differences NEREEE - - - - - 7 - 7 16 23
Change in value of financial asset at fair vae 24 BEGAEHZEREZ
through other comprehensive income SREEEERY - - - - 2 - - 2 - 2
Total other comprehensive income AprEAELE - - - - 2 7 - % 16 4
Total comprehensive loss 2AFRAE - - - - 2 T (34078 (34,050) (1554 (35,604)
Contributions from non-controlling interests ~ FERERTE - Ht13(a)
~ Note 13(a) - - - - - - - - 2964 2,964
Balance at 31 December 2019 “E-AF+-R=t-RER 14837 465738 67349 (415679) 67 (#15  37.046 168,947 140 170387

BXxXEARL2T 2019 F§]
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE-_T—NF+=-A=1+—RHLEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARAEEHAARGES

(Note 1) (Note 2)
(1) (HzF2)
Share Share Qther Merger Revaluation ~ Exchange  Retained

capitl  premium  reserves resenve resenve reseve  eamings Total equity
k& ROEE HtRE o0EE EEEE EXRE BRKE  EREE
HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Thr TEr  TéEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx

Balance at 1 January 2018 “E-\E-F-REH 14,837 465,738 67,349 (415,679 72 (to7) 127872 260,036
Comprehensive loss 2EFR
Loss for the year FEER = - - - - - (6780 (86780)
Other comprehensive loss At2EER
Currency translation differences  SNEFEEE - - - - - (269) - (269)
Change in value of financial asset 172 7 (B fE3f A

at fair value through other AfzAkEL

comprehensive income SHEERES - - - - (26) - - (26)
Total other comprenensive loss ~ EH2EFBEE = - - - (26) (265) - (291)
Total comprehensive loss 2AFEER = = = = (26) (265 (55,780)  (6,071)

Balance at 31 December 2018 =ZF-N\&

TZB=1-R&H 14,837 465,738 67,349 (415,679 46 (422) 72,092 203,965
Notes: B3
1 Other reserves include: (1) the difference between the share capital 1 EmEHEeE  (VREAAG Lm#ETHEA(E
issued by the Company for acquisition of the subsidiaries pursuant Al AREFHBERNBARCEITHRARNRER
to a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) for the listing of the RHKEOHNBRARZEERANEZE  RQTKLR
Company and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries being BREIES IR R EREE -

acquired at the time of the Reorganisation; and (2) the amount of
the loan waived by the controlling shareholder upon completion of
a common control combination.

2 Revaluation reserve represents fair value reserve for financial asset 2 ERREEDERAABEFAEMZAKEZEHE
at fair value through other comprehensive income. ENARBERE-

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity MW EGAEZESREEBEHNT —HHE -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.

g
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Cash flows from operating
activities

Cash generated from/(used in)
operations

Income tax recovered/(paid)

Interest paid

Payments of interest element of
lease liabilities

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing
activities

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Addition of intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Interest received

Net cash used in investing
activities

Cash flows from financing
activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayments of bank borrowings

Decrease in restricted bank
deposits

Payments of principal element of
lease liabilities

Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Exchange losses on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should

Note
B 5

RETHNHERE

e/ (FA)
Bk 28
Wem, (B R) 58
B AR
XNHEERENE D

28

REFHELE(FAA)

FER &
REFHNRERE

BEWME BELEE

14
RANEETVEE 16
LEME - FE X
B
B A B

RERDABERS

MEZHNRERE

17 12 B 8 30R 28
8 AT 5 28
W B R 17 77 3

XNEEaEAREH D

28
B ERITE

13(a)

MEEZH(AA)EE

IR E

RERAEEEYRD
R
FONHReMREFED

RehBReEBYER
&8

FRESRASEEY
22

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FEEIMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE-_ZT—hAhFE+_A=+—HLLFE

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
T8 T

(30,690)
(3,039)
(460)

(34,189)

(2,229)

106

2,122)

22,089
(13,110)

10,613

19,692

(16,719)
88,025

(153)

71,153

NEGREBReRERERBEN M E—HBE-

2019 F 3R
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Perfect Optronics Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13 June
2013, as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law (as Revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office
is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands. The
Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are
principally engaged in the trading, development and
sale of display and optics products and related
electronic components. The Group also processes
some of the products which it sells.

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

This note provides a list of the significant
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial
asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”) which have been measured at fair
value.

Annual Report 2019

BEXAEFERAG((ARANRZE—=
FRNAT=ZHRERAEHERREUBE]
MERSHEFMRY A —HEREE
fR A7) o H 3k it 3% 28 55 i A Clifton House,
75 Fort Street, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands ° 7~
NAIBRREEBHE R B ITAR A RGEM
e

ARBR/—RAREERRAGF - MEMBAR
(B ASE]) TELEBRRAZE
mMREEETRECES  FARMEE -
AEETAREHENBOEMETMT -

R BEBAN WFEHBERRTIABT
(BT 2% BEMAREJSNEERED
T ([FETT]) -

7R B 5 51) 0 A Bt T e B B S R R B R
MEBEFBR-BRARBAEAIN  HLFK
REMEFEERER -

AEENGEAMBHRRESZBEL
SR A ((HEAEFMAE]) R
o B9 P8 I8 A B B8 B A 3R 2R A
(IBEEMBHREEMDARTER
Al 5P 6225 1 I 5B 5 E ikt © A7
M BHRREREBELKAER
2 EREAAREBEFALMBEZER
m ([ r BEFARMGEZEK
) EBMEERRAABENA
Sn((BanBEFARRDZE
PEERSI BB AR BEFE -

Bk Bl

oo

30|



The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

The Group has applied the following
standard, amendments and interpretation
for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing on 1
January 2019:
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HKFRS 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to Hong
Kong Accounting
Standard (‘HKAS”) 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRSs

The Group had to change its accounting
policies as a result of adopting HKFRS
16 Leases (“HKFRS 167).
elected to adopt the new
but recognised the
cumulative effect of initially applying the
new standard on 1 January 2019. This is
disclosed in Note 2.2. Most of the other
amendments and interpretation listed
above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and

retrospectively

Leases

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

‘Employee Benefits’ on Plan
Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

The Group
rules
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are not expected to significantly affect
the current or future periods.
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Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTBEBHzE
RN Er HEEX
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material 1 January 2020
HKAS 8
ERGHENSIRRER G EL EEUNTSE —ZE-ZTF—-H—H
£85% (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
BEMBREEAENSE(BFTX) EBHNTE —E_TF-H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
ERUMBHRELENFI0RREAGT REERABRERAIREERE "
A2 R 2858 (1BETAK) ZEEEIEIAEE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021
BRI BREERNEITH REE 4 —E_—F—-H—H
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework for 1 January 2020
Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting
—E-)\EHBREHER FHREZCETHER —ZE-_TF-H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2020
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
BERMBREERES: BAEGH MEEERE —E_TF-H—H
AR B395% I & & B 15 1R o5 £ A
ETH (BFTA)

The Group will adopt the above new or ANEEBPEABEFREA it

revised standards and amendments to
existing standards as and when they
become effective. Management has
performed preliminary assessment and
does not anticipate any significant
impact on the Group’s financial position
and results of operations upon adopting
these standards and amendments to
existing HKFRSs.
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This note explains the impact of the adoption
of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s financial
statements.

As indicated in Note 2.1 above, the Group has
adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1
January 2019, but has not restated
comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as
permitted under the specific transition
provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising
from the new leasing rules are therefore
recognised in the opening consolidated
statement of financial position on 1 January
2019. The new accounting policies are
disclosed in Note 2.26.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group
recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases
which had previously been classified as
‘operating leases’ under the principles of
HKAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of
1 January 2019. The weighted average
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to
the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was
5.7%

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time,
the Group has used the following
practical expedients permitted by the
standard:

° applying a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics

° relying on previous assessments on
whether leases are onerous as an
alternative to performing an
impairment review — there were no
onerous contracts as at 1 January
2019
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. accounting for operating leases . BR-ZZE-—NF—H—
with a remaining lease term of less A% THERD 121
than 12 months as at 1 January AMEEHEN S E
2019 as short-term leases BREHEE

. excluding initial direct costs for the . RERERRBBBERD
measurement of the right-of-use MEEKANUGEER
asset at the date of initial EEE R
application, and

. using hindsight in determining the . EENBEEHLKIE
lease term where the contract HENEERRK RFER
contains options to extend or EEEE -
terminate the lease.

Operating lease commitments disclosed as RZE—N\NF+ZA=+—H

at 31 December 2018 BEMGEHERE
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental {§ F & A7 & X JE A B Hi K

borrowing rate as at the date of initial
application
Less: short-term leases recognised on a
straight-line basis as expense

Add: adjustments as a result of a different

treatment of extension and
termination options

Lease liabilities recognised as at

BEERMEETHE

B RESRAEEER AR SH

AR
L BIEM R LR RIS
TR 4 B

R-F-nE—A-AERH

1 January 2019 HEBE

Of which are: Ho:
Current lease liabilities RHHEARE
Non-current lease liabilities FRBHEEER
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The associated right-of-use assets for
property leases were measured on a
retrospective basis as if the new rules
had always been applied.

The change in accounting policy affected
the following items in the consolidated
statement of financial position on 1
January 2019:

o Right-of-use assets — increase by
HK$14,943,000

° Deferred tax assets — increase by
HK$55,000
° Lease liabilities — increase by

HK$15,966,000

The net impact on retained earnings on
1 January 2019 was a decrease of
HK$968,000.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through
its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group.
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Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of financial position respectively.

Except for the Reorganisation and business
combinations under common control, the
Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity
interest in the subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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The excess of the:
° consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash
consideration is deferred, the amounts payable
in the future are discounted to their present
value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms
and conditions. Contingent consideration is
classified either as equity or a financial liability.
Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the
directors, who make strategic decisions.

[tems included in the financial
statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Annual Report 2019

R B R B 2 &R E K AR RE
AR -RANBREREZEERZRE
A - BARZEBEEARRE R
BAREKRRERERBARK-

=
IR

BB ARIMER R EBBEIR
E FﬁF‘%iFﬁE Bl Z A Wt A8
HHEBLMBHRRZKER
BHEAMBREM TRRE
EZéE@E%ﬂﬁ?@Z%E
RIZAR IR 7% 518 E 2 BB

%%ﬁ““TZ&A ﬁﬂ@%

0 Bl 2
|
VB

Vi
=F

o
=
o

REFPHFWERIAEBAFRELE
AREEZHMAEREN TN — B o
BREKEREEAEDEERMT
REREDIHRIE - WHETERIE
MTEPZ |$/9&}?Em§$

AEEESEEROMEER
FIE BN ZEREEEN
TERERENER (S
B E - REM B WK AL
TLA R - BT AR R M T BE
ERRAEENIHREE -

1\,



Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “other
gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are
recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position,

° income and expenses for each
income statement are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

° all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial
instruments designated as hedges of
such investments, are recognised in
other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss
on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold Over the shorter of
improvements the term of the
leases or 5 years
Moulds and machinery 2-5 years

Furniture and office 3-5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income within “other gains, net”.

Club memberships with indefinite useful life are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’'s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or group of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

The Group classifies its financial assets
in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through
profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

wa B RRME

AERAFHARMRNELEET
EEE YEEFAEESEER
B HWMEFHHNEAEBHETA
R BEEEAEETHG &
HIREFTEGBRBEMNEM
ﬁ*%%%@%ﬁ@%'aﬁﬁ@
BEETAR UBEBSLER
E EEECEEBRBATKE
CRIEBEERERARRERSR
ﬁTW@i%hﬁ&ﬁﬁE@ﬁ%
EXRABRFHAEERENRSE °
HABBEMS  EERB A H
ﬂﬁme&k% 518N E A B E
= & ANARIFTE i//lb)\)(EEiF
LET)NREKESE BEREZ
#iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁMﬁxﬁiﬁ
XRE\ED ﬁé@/ﬂ{ﬁ"

AEBRBESRMEED BN
D“PE XE\ /DJU

s HEBRAARBEAEM

et A E M2 WU sk
Bm) &

DEAFZEREESREE
ZEBRARREREZAL
FH-

2019 F 3R

115



116

=
)

B 7% 3R & B 5

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in
profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group
measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVTPL are expensed in the
consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their
cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Annual Report 2019

RERAABEAEZEEM
5 laEkEBRBF AREX
HAit 2 E Wk o LA IERAER
BEZBRATAKREMS  BiR
FAEBERE RV S HERE
R A EDR B A AR E
BAREBEFAEMGEZEK

N2
S o
I

AEBRENEER
ZEBEA BT
REEHOHE -

A f S
ZEE
&
=

=
5 & 75

FHREEMMENERMEER
X5 BEHER — RHAEARE
EAFBEAHEZEEE
B-ZtemEERBRBRSR
ENENCIHAXECER M
AEECDEE EAENA
BRBMBME RS SRE
ERAR EHER

RO T ER  AEBERES R
BEZAABESM(HE &
BEEVFBAABEFAR
SIWECHEEERRERHALZ
RGUAFECHEE - BD
REEFABRZEREEL
RZRAREEEERERX
B

EREEAARAVTETIANS
RMEEMNRERESSESM
AEMAEER FREMEE
MERBETER -



Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is
included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and
presented in “other gains, net”
together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive
income.
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive
income. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gains
or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other gains,
net. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains, net and
impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVTPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL
is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive
income and presented within “other
gains, net” in the period in which it
arises.
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The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in
the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as other income
when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL are recognised in other
gains, net in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair
value.

The Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts, and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials and other direct
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Trade receivables are amounts due from
customers for merchandise sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets. Trade and
other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment.

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the Group prior to
the end of financial year which are unpaid.
Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities. Trade and
other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of
the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of
the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
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Borrowings are removed from the
consolidated statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a
financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which they are
incurred.
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The income tax expense or credit for the
period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred income tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is
calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the
countries where the Group operates and
generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised only
if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred income
tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and
liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is
recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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The Group pays contributions to defined
contribution plans in Hong Kong. The
schemes are generally funded through
payments to separate trustee-
administered funds, determined by
periodic calculations.

A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if
the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and
prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to
administered pension plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset
to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is
available.

The Group also contributes on a monthly
basis to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by relevant
municipal and provincial governments in
the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The municipal and provincial
governments undertake to assume the
retirement benefit obligations payable to
all existing and future retired employees
for post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. The assets of these
plans are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered
funds managed by the PRC government.
Contributions to these plans are
expensed as incurred.
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The expected cost of bonus payments
wholly due within 12 months after the
balance sheet date are recognised as a
liability where the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a
result of services rendered by employees
and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the statement of financial position
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses. Provision for an
onerous contract is recognised when the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received. The
unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the
least net cost of exiting from the contract,
which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling the
contract and any compensation or penalties
arising from failure to fulfil the contract.
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Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to anyone
item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expenses.

Sales of goods are recognised when
control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to
the customer, the customer has
accepted the products, the collection of
the related consideration is probable and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the
goods are delivered as this is the point
in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is
due.

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method.
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Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of
the Company, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

° by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during
the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the
figures used in the determination of basic
earnings per share to take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of
interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that
would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Dividends are received from financial assets
measured at FVTPL and at FVOCI. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income when the right to receive payment is
established. This applies even if they are paid
out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part
of the cost of an investment. In this case, the
dividend is recognised in other comprehensive
income if it relates to an investment measured
at FVOCI. However, the investment may need
to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group
has changed its accounting policy for leases
where the Group is the lessee. The new policy
is described below and the impact of the
change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 December 2018, leases of property,
plant and equipment where the Group, as
lessee, had substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership were classified as
finance leases.

Leases in which a significant portion of the
risks and rewards of ownership were not
transferred to the Group as lessee were
classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) were charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised
as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.
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Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on
an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.
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To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group, where possible, uses recent third-
party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases
and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less.
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B 7% 3R & B 5

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the
Group.

The Group is primarily exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from
United States dollars (“USD”),
Renminbi (“RMB”) and New Taiwan
dollars (“TWD”).

Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.
Management periodically reviews
assets and liabilities held in
currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency to ensure that
net exposure is kept at an
acceptable level. The Group does
not enter into any arrangement to
hedge its foreign exchange rate
risk.

The Group manages its foreign
exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates. In the
opinion of the directors, HK$ are
reasonably stable against the USD
under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, and accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis with respect to
the USD against HK$ is
performed.
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The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the impact on
exchange differences for RMB and
TWD is immaterial as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 due to
the low volume of transactions and
minimal amount of balances, and
accordingly no sensitivity analysis is
performed.

Interest rate risk relates to the risk
that the fair value or cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises from bank deposits
and bank balances. The interest
rate for the bank loans are fixed.
Other than bank deposits and bank
balances, the Group does not have
significant interest-bearing assets
or liabilities.

At 31 December 2019, if interest
rates on bank deposits and bank
balances had been 100 basis
points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, the pre-tax
loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$703,000 (2018:
HK$815,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
income from cash and bank
deposits.
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B 7% 3R & B 5

The Group’s exposure to price risk
arises from investments held by the
Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial
position either as at FVOCI or
FVTPL.

At 31 December 2019, if the fair
values of the investments classified
as financial assets at FVTPL and
FVOCI had been 10% higher/lower,
with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s pre-tax loss
and other components of equity
would have been HK$5,754,000
lower/higher (2018: HK$5,499,000
lower/higher) and HK$267,000
higher/lower (2018: HK$265,000
higher/lower) respectively. Pre-tax
loss for the year would decrease/
increase as a result of gains/
losses on financial asset classified
as at FVTPL. Other components of
equity would increase/decrease as
a result of gains/losses on financial
asset classified as at FVOCI.
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Credit risk is managed on a group basis.
Credit risk arises from trade and other
receivables, restricted bank deposits and
bank balances. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets. The credit
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis
with reference to the financial position of
the debtors, past experience and other
factors.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that the sales of products are
made to customers with appropriate
credit histories and the Group performs
regular credit evaluations of its major
customers.

The Group applies the lifetime expected
loss provision, as permitted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, for all
trade and bills receivables.

The Group considers the credit risk
characteristics of the trade and bills
receivables to measure the expected
credit loss (“ECL”). For the trade and
bills receivables, the Group has
assessed the ECL by considering
historical default rates, existing market
conditions and forward-looking
information. Based on the Group’s
assessment, ECL rate of trade and bills
receivables is close to zero. Therefore,
the loss allowance provision for these
trade and bills receivables balances was
not material.

Restricted bank deposits and bank
balances are deposited in reputable
banks. Management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by
these banks.
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B 7% 3R & B 5

Prudent liquidity risk management
includes maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability
to settle the payables of the Group.

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period
at the date of the statement of financial
position to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are

EENRDESERERBE
BEREHEEHARELAERE
F BRENDABEER
B RABRNEEREENE
(D

TRINTAEENEEBAER
ERMBHREKBZES K
B &Y I &4 HA ] 42 PR AR BE 21 2R 48
BIETHDHN - ERAWED
TERASAMNAMBANEESR

=
£ °

the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than Between
1 year 1 to 5 years Total
—FHR —ZhF et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TATT TATT TATT

At 31 December 2019 RZ=-ZT—h &

+t=A=+—H
Trade payables FE T BR 3K
Other payables H A JET R
Lease liabilities HEBE

At 31 December 2018 RZ=-ZT—N\F

+t=A=+-—-H
Trade payables FE S BR X 15,370 — 15,370
Other payables H B 3R 3,427 — 3,427
Bank borrowings |ITE XK 9,255 = 9,255
28,052 — 28,052

136 Annual Report 2019



The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
debt-to-asset ratio. The ratio is calculated as
total debt divided by total assets. Total debt is
calculated as interest-bearing borrowings. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares and sell
assets to reduce debt.

During the year, the Group’s strategy, which
remained unchanged from prior year, was to
maintain a net cash position. As at 31
December 2019 and 2018, the Group has a
net cash position and the aggregate balances
of unrestricted bank deposits, and cash and
cash equivalents exceeded the total interest-
bearing debt by HK$70,308,000 (2018:
HK$62,174,000).

Financial instruments carried at fair value are
analysed by valuation method. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
assets or liabilities, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are
not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank deposits, and trade, bills and
other receivables; and the Group’s financial
liabilities, including bank borrowings, trade and
other payables approximate their fair values
due to their short maturities.

The nominal values less any estimated credit
adjustments for financial assets and liabilities
with a maturity of less than one year are
assumed to approximate their fair values. The
fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the
Group for similar financial instruments.

The following table presents the carrying value
of financial instruments measured at fair value
at the consolidated statement of financial
position across the three levels.

Recurring fair value REMDNABETE
measurements
Financial asset at FVTPL BRnBEFARE
SRHEE
— Unlisted preferred shares ~ — JF 8 & 1%
Financial asset at FVOCI BAREEFAEM
2EHREZERMEE
— Unlisted equity securities — EETMREES
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Recurring fair value REEAABENE
measurements
Financial asset at FVTPL BAnBEFABRRLZ
SREE
— Unlisted preferred shares ~ — 3F F M@ &K
Financial asset at FVOCI BRREEFAEM
2EHRECEMEE
— Unlisted equity securities — FEMBRERS

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2
and 3 during the year (2018: Nil).

wa B RRME

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2018
RZE-N\F+ZA=+—HZAAKEEFE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1 F2RE F3E @t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAT FHT
— - 54,988 54,988

— — 2,652 2,652

— — 57,640 57,640

FRNFIE F2EEFIE 2 M1 E
R )\F:E)-
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TEREFHEZ-_ET—NLER_-F

The following table presents the changes in =- =
—N\F+ZA=t—HILFERIE

level 3 instruments for the years ended 31

140

December 2019 and 2018: TAZE%:
Unlisted Unlisted
preferred equity
shares securities Total
kLW kLW
BER fi% #E 3% 5 wat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET
Opening balance R-ZE-—-NEF—HF—H2Z
1 January 2018 FE 54,269 2,678 56,947
Losses recognised in REMEEY SRR
other comprehensive k=]
income - (26) (26)
Gains recognised in other A H b Uk 25 /F5E R
gains, net I &= 719 = 719
Closing balance R-ZZ-—N\F
31 December 2018 +=ZA=+—-8B%2
FRE R
Gains recognised in other MEM 2 E R =ER 2
comprehensive income Y%
Gains recognised in other 1 fth U %5 % 58 fE 52
gains, net &
Closing balance R-ZZE—-NF
31 December 2019 +=ZA=+—-8%2
FR&E R
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The following table summarises the valuation
techniques used and the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable
inputs wused in level 3 fair value
measurements:

Significant
Description Valuation technique

B fh BB

(@) Preferred shares 2019: Market comparable companies  Volatility
issued by a private and equity value allocation with
entity option-pricing method

—-BRECERT. “E-NE THTLRAAR R
BRERK EREERENEREERR

2018: Business valuation based on Volatility
discounted cash flow under income
approach; equity value allocation
based on option-pricing method
with inputs of volatility, risk-free
interest rate, and dividend yield

—N\FRBRERER m)w R
F&E’]E\Efﬁfﬁﬁm REEENE
RERSETEE ﬂﬁ?&ﬂ@i@)\
g5 ERRANXLREEE

Weighted average cost

(IEFHEAR

of capital
("WACC")
MEFHERRA
AJ)
(b) Ordinary shares issued Discounted cash flow method WACC
by a private entity (2018: same)
-ARERERT. HRBERNE MEFHERRA

gl (Z2-N\F:8R)

Valuations of the above financial assets held
by the Group as at the end of the reporting
period were performed by independent
valuers.

unobservable inputs

EXFURRBARE

wa B RRME

TRIANEIE AR BEFFEMA
EERDEABERTAERG A
BENTEEHR:

Relationship of unobservable inputs
Value to fair value

BE FUBRBABBEAAEENER

54.19%  10% increase/(decrease) in the volatility
would result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value by approximately (HK$175,000)/
HK$367,000

5419% RIEEM/ (RD)10% KL DA ER
(Bi) /3 049 (175,000% 1)
/367,000

51.38% 10% increase/(decrease) in the volatility
would result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value by approximately (HK$39,000)/
HK$8,000

51.38% imm/ B)10%  BL DA EECE
D) /EMA(39,000%7T) /
s,ooo;%fn

16.18% 5% increase/(decrease) in WACC would
result in (decrease)/increase in fair value
by approximately (HK$3,637,000)/
HK$4,093,000

16.18% METHERRAEM/ (HD)6%
BLRABECED)/
(3,637,000 7T) /4,093,000 7T

13.61%  10% increase/(decrease) in WACC would
(2018: 12.69%) result in (decrease)/increase in fair value
by approximately (HK$260,000)/
HK$364,000 (2018: (HK$312,000)/

HK$390,000)
1361% METHERRAEN,/ (R D) 10% -
(ZB-N\%: BLAAEECED) /1 M4 (260,000

12.69% ) BTT),//364,000% T
(ZZ—\E: (312,000 ) /390,000
BT

AKBRHE KRR U L2 R
BEMMBEHBBGEMET-
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The preparation of financial statements requires the
use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also
needs to exercise judgement in applying the
Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that
may have a financial impact on the entity and that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated selling
expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products
of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in
consumer preferences and competitor
actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these
estimations by each date of the
statement of financial position to ensure
inventories are shown at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods
and makes assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at
the end of each reporting period.
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The loss allowances for financial assets
are based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

In determining the lease term,
management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option,
or not exercise a termination option.
Extension options (or periods after
termination options) are only included in
the lease term if the lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not
terminated).
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The chief operating decision-maker has been
identified as the directors of the Company. The
directors review the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance and allocate resources
and determine the operating segments based on
these reports.

The directors determine that the Group has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@)
(b)

Display products segment; and
Optics products segment

The directors assess the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of revenue
and results of each segment and do not assess the
performance based on segment assets and
liabilities.

(@) The segment information provided to the
directors for the reportable segments for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is

as follows:
Display products
ETER
2018
ZE-N\E
HK$'000
T
Segment revenue (@l from A EMA (2 BKE
external customers) HE%P) 249,518
Segment results PHEE (15,781)
Unallocated operating costs 7 7 B4 A&
Finance costs, net HBEREE
Loss before income tax ~ BRETEHRAITEE
Other segment information: E i3 S&EH :
(Write back of provisior)  (BER & &EERE)/
provision for obsolete REGERRE
inventories (8,473

Annual Report 2019
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(@)

Optics products Total
rtEER it
2018 2018
it it It ik
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR
4,554 264,072
(1,940) (17,721)
(37,769)
(354)
(65,838)
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The Group’s revenues from its major products b) BEZZE-NFERZZT-—NFE+=
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and A=+—BLtFE FrEHEK)BH
2018 are as follows: FEEMIWAFHINEOT
2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
FAT
Thin film transistor liquid BRERERSERNT
crystal display panels and R & R4
modules 226,154
Electronic signage BEFESR 397
Integrated circuits S ER 3,268
Polarisers 1@ iRk 5,208
Light guide plates B iR 9,174
Optics products HEBEm 4,554
Others i 5,317
254,072
Segment revenue by customers’ geographical () XEPHMIEMNE S H DB A
location
The amount of the Group’s revenue from AREFBZRERERERNE & H 2,
external customers by locations where the ZOMINEEREFRIEERASER
Group’s products are delivered to its TRIR -
customers is shown in the table below.
2018
—T-)N\#F
HK$°000
FAT
Hong Kong HB 178,626
The PRC F 72,802
Taiwan a8 & 2,644
254,072

2019 3R 145



Fe R BRRME

(d) Revenues from major customer who has b #EBEZZFE-—NAF+=—A=+—H81t
individually contributed 10% or more of the FE REXERFP (BEXAEEHE
total revenue of the Group for the year ended WA10%s A E) M A ERT -
31 December 2019 are disclosed as follows:

2018
—T—-N\F
HK$ 000
FAT
Customer A EPA 2,647
The above customer is included in the display Pl EPAHABRERD A - R
products segment. Revenue from this BHE-_ZE-N\F+-A=+—H1
customer contributed less than 10% of the FE - -REZEPHRAGERIEH
total revenue of the Group during the year B AT B10% °
ended 31 December 2018.

(e)  An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets ) BREENE AEEZERDEE
(other than financial assets and deferred tax (Tﬁﬁiﬂéﬁﬁ L ERIEE E)
assets) by location of assets is as follows: DITWAT :

Hong Kong The PRC Taiwan Total
B8 H =] st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET THET TET

As at 31 December 2019: R=—ZT—h &

+=RA=+-8:
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and L
equipment
Intangible assets mEAE
Right-of-use of assets EREEE

As at 31 December 2018: R=ZT— N\ &

+T=ZA=t+—H:
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and ME - BB RRE
equipment 767 2,264 - 3,031
Intangible assets EmREE 2,000 1,122 = 3,122

2,767 3,386 - 6,153
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Revenue represents the sales of display products, WANBEERTER  KEER KBRS
optics products and related electronic components FEHETINAANLTRAEBHEA -

to external parties.

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FAET
Fair value changes in financial asset & A f BEE ABRZ
at FVTPL TREEAABEED 719
Net exchange gain/(loss) &5 e, (E18) FE (76)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME  FEKEEZ
plant and equipment Wz (E8) (12)
Written-off of property, plant and ~ #E® ¥ - BE R &R H
equipment -
Others HA 234
865
Cost of sales, distribution and selling expenses, HEKRA DHEEEERSE —MRITK
general and administrative expenses and research AERARERAERZS>TAT
and development expenses are analysed as follows:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FAET
Cost of inventories sold (Note 20) 8% 77 & K 48 (Fff 5£20) 269,056
Processing and sub-contracting MmIRIMNBER
expenses 1,554
Transportation expenses EHER 814
Write back of provision for obsolete [ & 17 & # &5 #% @
inventories (Note 20) (Fff E20) (7,766)
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR B &
— Audit services — B R 1,500
— Non-audit services — FEARD 86
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) & 8 #& 7 53 sz (Bt 5£9) 24,492
Depreciation of property, plant and #1% - &= MR EFTE
equipment (Note 14) (B 5E14) 2,078
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f# Fi#E & E 41 & (M 5£15)
(Note 15) -
Operating lease rentals in respect of EF& &M EHE S
buildings 8,210
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B 7% 3R & B 5

EHEE RN (K
& &R IR 1 A

— E B E 2

Short-term employee benefits (Note)
Post-employment benefits
— defined contribution plans

BERMNMAX B
BREEH

Total employee benefit expenses,
including directors’ remuneration

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2019, short-term employee

benefits include salary, wages, bonus paid to employees,
and insurance premium for staff insurance schemes, but
excluding depreciation and finance costs associated with
the lease of the staff quarter, amounting to HK$974,000
and HK$63,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, short-term
employee benefits include salary, wages, bonus paid to
employees, insurance premium for staff insurance schemes
and staff quarter expenses.

No forfeited contributions for the Group is
available to reduce the contribution payment in
the future years. Contributions to schemes
vest immediately.

The five individuals whose remuneration were
the highest in the Group for the year include
three directors (2018: three) whose
remuneration are reflected in the analysis
shown in Note 33. The emoluments payable to
the remaining two (2018: two) individuals
during the year are as follows:

Basic salaries, other allowances KT &
and benefits in kind EMEN
Contribution to pension scheme :E &k &t 2| £t 3k

Annual Report 2019

 H AR RE R

GEE

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
F#& T

22,933

1,559

24,492

HE_T-NF+_A=+—BLEE EH
EERNEEINTEES € T8 ek
BIRBFENRE HTREHEEIBEEA
BT E R B AR 5 Bl & #1974,000% 7T K&
63,0007 JT °

BE_ZT-—NE+_A=Z+—BHLEFE EH
BREBABEINTFEEH T4 %%
ETIRBABNRE UREIFEHAL -

7 5% [ 45 42 45 052 UK A R R LA B AR
RIRFEFR - HE B HRT
AR -

FAAXEELERSHFMA LB
—REFE(CTE-N\F:=F) H
#r B S BR A P REQSPT B KO 0 AT E
R FRAERNBKRTMACZE N
FMBIALZMESWT :

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
F#& T

2,004
36

2,040



The number of highest paid non-director
individuals whose remunerations for the year
fell within the following bands:

Emolument bands: B < &6 & -

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 =% T £1,000,0007% 7T

HK$1,500,001 to 1,500,001 T &
HK$2,000,000 2,000,0007% JT

For the year ended 31 December 2019, no
remuneration (2018: Nil) was paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office, and no arrangement under which a
director or the five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any of the
remuneration.

Finance income B 75 LA
Interest income on: AN B BRI B WA
Pledged bank deposits B IRITER
Bank deposits BITER
Finance costs 81 7% &
Interest expenses on: AT ERGHEMAK
Bank loans RITER
Factoring charges REEHR
Lease liabilities HE&RE
Finance costs, net BB R H R

wa B RRME

AEEHFMAFUTBEGEES
SEHMALHABDT :

2018
—F-)N\F

BE-_Z2—NEF+-_A=+—HI1t
FE AEBRARAEESIRERD
HMWA LTI HEMERN - EREMN
AREERNEZE N BEREE T8
EFREZEES AL RS HUA T HE
HEBEREFHOLHE(ZZE—N
F o) o

2018
—E2-N\F
HK$’000
T& T

60
46

106

(456)
(4)

(460)

(354)

2019 F 3R
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Fe R BRRME

7 =]

Taxation on profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profits for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing

applicable
countries/places
based on existing legislation,
practices in respect thereof.

in the

The amount of income tax (credited)/charged to the &R
consolidated statement of comprehensive income kR
represents:

Current income tax:
— QOutside Hong Kong
— Adjustments in respect of
prior years

Total current income tax
Deferred income tax:
— Origination and reversal of
temporary differences
(Note 26)

Income tax credit

BB
— BB
— HBE RN EE

EHMEHARE
BELEFRBR :
- EENBOERZR
(Pt 3£26)

PrSTHE %

Annual Report 2019

F A M) 2 B IE B AR Ad 5T AR B B AR
EEEBMENBRR MERTEROT
E . BERBAWMBIED - 28 KB HI KT
in which the Group operates, o
interpretations and

AEERER GIA) MR EEHR

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
TATT

19



The income tax on the Group’s loss before income
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the tax rate applicable to the Group as
follows:

wa B RRME

7R 52 [ 5 B P15 250 A1 U8 1R PR A8 O P 1S 25 £
150 PR AN S [0 80 8 P s PR ) B R T 2 A A 3R
mEBMAMER  ERWT:

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FAT
Loss before income tax BrFT 1S B AT E 1B (55,838)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong tax 12 & B £16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) STEHBIE
ZE—)\F :16.5%) (9,213)
Tax effects of: LA B IER) B F
— Different taxation rate in other —— H A EAEER T
jurisdictions i = (84)
— Income not subject to tax — HEHT AR A (126)
— Expenses not deductible for tax ~— — A {EHFL B & 5
purposes & 528
— Utilisation of previously — FRERIEERL
unrecognised tax losses I &8 (135)
— Tax losses for which no — WERRREERIE
deferred tax asset EEMHIBERE
was recognised 8,972
Adjustments in respect of HBAFENFAE
prior years -
Income tax credit Frigtif (58)
2019 F ik
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B 7% 3R & B 5

Basic loss per share for the year is calculated by
dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Loss attributable to equity holders of AN A &z 1A A

the Company (HK$’000) JEMEEE (T T)

Weighted average number of BETTRARY
ordinary shares in issue I & (FR)
(thousands)

Basic and diluted loss per share ERERREE
(HK cents per share) &8 (T REL)

For the purpose of determining the diluted loss per
share amount, no adjustment has been made to the
basic loss per share amount for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 as the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
these years.

Annual Report 2019

R SRR AR B TEA R AEREE
AJE A BRI 4 PO B 5 17 BB AR 2 11
EF LY E -

2018
—F-)N\F

(55,780)

1,483,687

(3.76)

DETEREEEENS  ARAEER
B2 hh&E&#rkFE—NF+=A
=t BHLFEIETMANERTEEES
TER MU ERZSEFEZINETRE
AEEBELHFE-



The following

is a

December 2019 and 2018:

Name

£8

Rightone Resources Limited
(‘Rightone”)

Rightone Resources Limited
([ Rightone |)

Shinwa Technology Limited
HEHRERDA
Sinosky Resources Limited
Sinosky Resources Limited
Dexing Investment Limited
Dexing Investment Limited
Yuan Tai Investment Limited

HeREARAE

Perfect Display Limited

BXERARAA

Perfect Sky Technology
Limited

EAMBARLE

Dexing Technology
Development Limited

BANRERERAR

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity
HERAY/RYBE
RERRERM

British Virgin Islands
(BVI), limited liability
company

EBRREB(4BAX
BEIARAA

BVI, limited liability
company

EBRAEBARAA

BVI, limited liability
company

EBRAEBARAA

BVI, limited liability
company

AERABEBERAR
Samoa, limited liability

company
EEGARAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BRERLA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BRERAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BRERLA

Principal activities and
place of operation

IRFHREERY

Investment holding

Holding of patents
REZH
Investment holding
REZR
Investment holding
REZR
Investment holding

REZKR

Trading of display panels
and related electronic
components in Hong
Kong

RERHERRARR
AEET Ik

Electronic product
application
development in Hong
Kong

REREASTERRR
RE

Investment holding

REER

list of subsidiaries at 31

Particulars of issued share
capital/paid up capital
BRITRS/BE
RA#E

10,000 ordinary shares at
no par value

10000EEAELER

1 ordinary share at no par
value

IRERELRR

1 ordinary share at no par
value

REEELAR

1 ordinary share at no par
value

REEELAR

100 ordinary shares of
USD1 each

100RERAREIZT

38,000,000 ordinary shares

38,000,000 & B

1 ordinary share

=

RERR

1 ordinary share

REAR

R NEFER_FE—NEF+_A=+—

Ge M BRRME

BB RRESMT

Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary

shares directly held by
the Company
ARRERRA
EERILA

(%)

shares held by shares directly held by
the Group
AEEEA
EERILA

the Company
ARRERRA
EERILA
(%) (%)
2018
—5-N\F

100

shares held by
the Group
AEEEA
EERILA
(%)

2018
“§-NE

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

2019 F 3R
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Name

tE

Dexing Materials Technology
(Dongguan) Company
Limited

BEMHEE(RZ)ER
27

Yuan Mei Xin Technology

(Shenzhen) Company
Limited

EXEHR(RI)ERAD

Yuan Tian Technology
(Shenzhen) Company
Limited

EAME (R BRAE

Yuan Tai Electronics Company

Limited
RAEFRHARAR

Perfect Shiny Technology
Limited
EEHRERAF

Perfect Shiny Technology (HK)

Limited

HiAM%(EE)BRAE

FEMBRRME

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of
legal entity

ARAL/ RIS
REGERER

The PRG, limited liability
company

FEARAR

The PRG, limited liability
company

FEERAA

The PRG, limited liability
company

FEARAR

Taiwan, limited liability
company
AEERAR

Samoa, limited liability
company

EEDERLT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BRERAT

Principal activities and
place of operation

IREBRALHY

Not yet commenced
business

ARRER

Wholesaling, import and
export of display
panels and related
electronic components
and provision of
technical support and
related services in the
PRC

REBREETARR
BEE TN
HE% #ORLO:
RBERAZER
RERE

Research and
development,
provision of technical
support and related
services in the PRC

R EHERRHKH
REREERS

Not yet commenced
business

ARRER

Investment holding

REZKR

Design, development and
sales of applied
optics-related
products in Hong
Kong

EERR REREE
ERtEER

Annual Report 2019

Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary

Particulars of issued share  shares directly held by

capital/paid up capital the Company

BRTRG/ KA ARRERRE

RARE ZEERLA
(%)

USD50,000

50,0005 7

USD1,000,000

1,000000% 7T

USD100,000

100,000 72

500,000 ordinary shares of
TWD10 each

500,000 5 R &
mamonHEak

500,000 ordinary shares of
USD1 each

500,000 §RE EIZ T
A3l

1 ordinary share

shares held by shares directly held by
the Group
AEERE
ZEERLA

the Company
ALNAERRE
ZEERLA
(%) (%)
2018
“E-N\%

shares held by
the Group
AEERE
ZEBRIA
(%)

2018
“E-N\%

100

100

100

100

100

100



Name

tE

Perfect Shiny Technology
(Shenzhen) Limited

BEH& (R ERAR

Skyteam Resources Limited
Skyteam Resources Limited
Naruto Technology Limited
BARRERAF
Perinnova Limited
(*Perinnova’)
Perinnova Limited

(I Perinnova |)

Perfect Intelligent Technology
Limited

EXBEHRARAT

Fayeking Technology Limited

ROMRERLR

Place of incorporation/

establishment and kind of  Principal activities and

legal entity
HRAL/HIBY
REEREE

The PRG, limited liability
company

TEERAR

BVI, limited liability
company

ZBRLEERRAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEERAR

BVI, limited liability

company

EBRAEBARAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BRARLA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BRARLA

place of operation

IREBRALHY

Sales, research and
development of
optics-related
products in the PRG

RABHERFE RS
BEER

Investment holding
REER

Not yet commenced
business

AREXH
Investment holding

BEAH

Design, development and
sales of digital
information signage
and electronic shelf
display products in
Hong Kong

REERG  REREE
HEETRRET
ERETGER

Design, development and
sales of electronic
products in Hong
Kong

REERG  REREE
ETER

capital/paid up capital
BESETVA £
RAz#E

RMB1,000,000

AR 81,0000007

1 ordinary share at no par
value

REEELAR

10,000,000 ordinary shares

10,000,000 & &

1 ordinary share at no par

value

IRERELRR

10,000 ordinary shares

10,000 & %

10,000 ordinary shares

10,000 & %

ZEBRIA

In March 2019, the Group entered into a
subscription and shareholders’ agreement with
two independent third parties (the “Investors”)
for investments in shares of Perinnova, a
subsidiary of the Group. The subscription was
completed in April 2019 and each of the
Investors invested USD190,000 (approximately
HK$2,964,000 in aggregate) and each holds
19% equity interest, with the Group holding
the remaining 62% equity interest, in
Perinnova.

wa B RRME

Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary Proportion of ordinary

Particulars of issued share  shares directly held by
the Company
ARRERRE

shares held by shares directly held by shares held by
the Group the Company the Group
AEERE ARRERRE AEERE
ZEBRIA ZEBRIA ZEBRIA
(%) (%) (%) (%)
2018 2018

“3-N\F “3-N\F

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

RZE—NF=ZA AEEHEREZ
BYBE=F(HEENDITLREX
R E AIREREBNE QA
Perinnova® i& 7 - REETERN - F
—NFONAREK SKREEKHAE
190,000% JT (& &F #92,964,000/%
JL) © % B # APerinnova 19%0%
o mASE R A ST M62%8
HE o

2019 F 3R
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At 1 January 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended
31 December 2018
Opening net book amount
Currency translation
differences
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2018

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended
31 December 2019
Opening net book amount
Currency translation
differences
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2019

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

R-F-\F-H-H
A
2t &

BRFE

BE-ZT-\&+-A
Sr=Fl4EE

FNRAFE

NEHEZE

=gl
e
REZH

FEREEFE

RZZ-N\F
+-A=+-FH

A

ZithE

REFE

BE_ZF-h&1+ZAR
S+-HIEFE

ENREEE

NEREEE

1

e

MEXH

EREEFE
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Leasehold
improvements

HERTERE
HK$'000
TET

1,549
(1,399)

161

161

(63)
1679

(334)

1,433

3,143
(1,710)

1,433

Moulds and
machinery

BARKE
HK$'000
TEL

1,987
(173

1,214

1,888
(1,580)

308

Furniture and
office
equipment
BER
BAERRE
HK$'000
TAT

1,781
(1,567)

214

214
(26)
550

(13)
(169)

556

2,229
(1,673)

556

Motor vehicles

RE
HK$'000
TET

4,688
(3.262)

1,426

1,426

(692)

734

4,651
(3,917)

734

Total
h

HK$'000
TAL

10,005
(7,000)

3,006

3,005
(112)
2299

(13)
(2,078)

3,031

11,91
(8,880)

3,031
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This note provides information for leases where the LM R AR B AEABANEEEHR -
Group is a lessee.

As at 1 January 2019 RZTE—-—NF—H—H
Additions 2 n
Depreciation expense TERX
Interest expense FMBREX
Payments of principal element Xt A& 2 {5
Payments of interest element XA AEER D
Exchange realignment b 5 38 &
As at 31 December 2019 R-_ZT—-h4F
+=A=+—H
Current B
Non-current FEMB
The consolidated statement of comprehensive HeErtERaRETNATEBASE
income shows the following amounts relating AeRE
to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEE — WE2IFEXH

— Properties (Note 8) (B 5x£8)

Interest expense (Note 10) B (H7E10)

Expense relating to short-term leases %2 HA 78 & A8 B8 5 2 (B 528)
(Note 8)

Expense relating to leases of low-value KR EXEBRARPHAENKEE
assets that are not shown above as BEEMSHEAR < (M8)
short-term leases (Note 8)

Expense relating to variable lease WEAABREBBENATEBEE MK
payments not included in lease MR B 2 (B 7E8)

liabilities (Note 8)
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The payments of principal and interest element
of leases liabilities during the year ended 31
December 2019 were HK$4,963,000 and
HK$890,000, respectively. Payments for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets
were not shown separately, but included in the
line of “loss before income tax” in respect of
the net cash generated from operation.

The Group leases various offices, warehouses
and a staff quarter. The leases run for periods
up to 6 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but
leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options are included
in a number of property and equipment leases
across the Group. These are used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing the
assets used in the Group’s operations. The
majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not
by the respective lessor.

Annual Report 2019

BE-_Z—hE+-_A=+—8H1t
FE -INHEBENES KT A
L5 9 Bl A4,963,0007% 7T %890,000
Bro mHHERRKEEEENE
MEREKEBI L HEESRLEE
FIBBR e FEPIBRAMSHATERE]
—I5 o

AEEHERBRAE BAER—
ETIES HEHRRRF -H
ERFRBEERNBRAGEME &
TERERRTRAGR RGN HE
Bl EENERZE EEEER
ERRRERRZERS -

AEBEUNETOMERRBHE
HAEEARKRLEER - EARE
EEASELEMAEETBEE
RAZENETE - I AN E
MR IEEZREE R B A EE (3F
EBHBEA)ITRE-



At 1 January 2018
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2018

Opening net book amount
Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2018
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount

Additions
Amortisation charge

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

The Group’s intangible assets as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 comprise membership rights and are
stated at cost less any impairment

losses in

RZE—NF—H—H
(BN

Rt

REFE
BE_ZT—N\F
+-_A=+—HItFE
HYIBR R E

BT

HIRBREFE

R-ZF—-—NFE+-_A=+—8H
DN

Bt

BREF
HE-Z-—NF
ToASt-ALLFE
#1485 7 £

NE

o

49 % B S 8

R_ZB-AF+_RA=+—H
X AR
Rt #H

AR EF{E

accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. HIBR o

wa B RRME

Club
memberships
eeE
HK$’'000
TETT

3,122

3,122

3,122

3,122

3,122

3,122

AEEBR-_ZE—NWER-_ZE—NF+_-A
T+ BENEFEERESERERN  BIE
REBM L BUREKR AR T AREEE

2019 F 3R
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The Group holds the following financial instruments AEBR=-ZZE—NFEZZTE-N\F+H
at 31 December 2019 and 2018: =t+—HEETIEMIA:
2018
—T—N\EFE
HK$ 000
FHE T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: 1% # 5 BX 24X 51) B Y
SREE
Trade and other receivables B R SR R B ﬁiﬂg & 12,121
Restricted bank deposits ZRHEHBITER 10,335
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBeZEEYD 71,153
Financial assets at FVOCI EAnBEIFTAEMEZE
Wz emEE 2,652
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREBEFAEBRZ
TREE 54,988
151,249
Financial liabilities c@mAasE
Liabilities at amortised cost: HEHKATENEE
Trade and other payables JE 15T BR 3R B2 E At FE 1 3R 18,797
Lease liabilities HEBE -
Bank borrowings |ITE N 8,979
27,776
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The Group’s financial asset at FVOCI comprises the
Group’s equity investment in certain ordinary shares
issued by a private company principally engaged in
the research and development, manufacturing and
sale of separator which is a key component in
lithium battery, representing an approximately 3.03%
(2018: 3.33%) shareholding of such company. The
balance is denominated in TWD.

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE—NF
—A—Hz#&
Gain/(loss) recognised in other ,ﬁ\ﬁtzﬁﬂﬂl Wﬁﬁ
comprehensive income =,/ (E18)
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE—NF

T-A=T—RHZ#&

The Group’s financial asset at FVTPL comprises the
holding of certain preferred shares in Mobvoi Inc.
(“Mobvoi”), a private company principally engaged in
the business of developing and providing voice
search artificial intelligence (“Al”) systems on mobile,
smart wearable and other devices. The balance is
denominated in USD. There have been no addition
to or disposal of such investment since the Group
made the investment in January 2015. The most
recent issue by Mobvoi of new preferred shares to
investors took place in September 2019 and the

wa B RRME

AEEEZEAAEBEFTAEMEZAKZENE
MEEOREAEEN —BLAR BT
ETEBRAOBRERE HZRAY
3.03%f& #E (= F — \F :3.33%) ' i fh
ARBEEREWNE  HELKHEREE
(BESHNEEILD) o LerIAF & BEET
R

2018
— N\
HK$’000
TAET

2,678

(26)

2,652

AEEBRAARBETABGZEHEESR
¥E ¥ 5 Mobvoi  Inc. ([ Mobvoi |) & T 18 5%
% * Mobvoi &= B B KR F % -
E’QENQT SEREMEECEEERA
I’le ENTAIREDEHRETHLAR
cREHBRUNET([ETEE - BAE
B’\\_i AF—RAERZIEEUR B
I EWEARNE K HE - Mobvoifgr T 1A =
E—NFNARKEEZETHELR M
A EE B AMobvoi X #E (I 2 m#E R E
6 i B S B) AR 41.53%8 E = 4

Group’s shareholding in Mobvoi (on a fully diluted 1.50% -
and as converted basis)was diluted from
approximately 1.53% to approximately 1.50%.
2018
— N\
HK$'000
FET
Balance at 1 January WN—H—H&&% 54,269
Gain recognised in other gains, net R E MRz FEEFH ERN
& 719
Balance at 31 December RTZA=+T—RH2#&&#% 54,988
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Work in progress £ 8

Finished goods 5E X dh

Less: Provision for obsolete B RETERE
inventories

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and
included in “cost of sales” amounted to
HK$188,306,000 (2018: HK$269,056,000) for the
year (Note 8).

A write back of provision for obsolete inventories of
HK$26,849,000 (2018: HK$7,766,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in respect of the net amount
of the (write back of provision)/provision for obsolete
inventories, loss on obsolete inventories, utilisation
of provision for obsolete inventories and write-down
of inventories to their net realisable value for the
year. These amounts have been included in cost of
sales in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

& W R 3R (Bt 5 (a))
& W =4z (Kt £ (a))

Trade receivables (Note (a))
Bills receivables (Note (a))

BNR - RER
H i & 4 5%

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Annual Report 2019

2018
—E—N\F
HK$’000
T T

3,332
131,799

(63,241)
81,890

NEEERABRSZ W ATHESRANF
& K 7R £188,306,000/ 7T (Z & — )\ £ ¢
269,056,000/ 7t ) (Fff 5£8) °

AREERFRNAH(REFERRDFHE),
MEFERE BREFTEERE HAERE
GFERELIMAGTEZHEERFERR
HErAKREERERRECERERD
26,849,000/ jt (=& — )\ & : 7,766,000
BIL) c ZERBEEAGLEEZAKEE
HI[SHEMARJET °

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
T

8,218

8,218

5,133

13,351



Notes:

The Group generally grants credit periods of 30 to 90 days.
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on
invoice date is as follows:

0-30 days 0-30K
31-60 days 31-60X
61-90 days 61-90K
Over 90 days 90K A £

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s trade receivables of
HK$8,407,000 (2018: HK$1,894,000) were past due but not
impaired. The ageing analysis of trade receivables that were
past due but not impaired is as follows:

Amounts past due i B ZRIE
1-30 days 1-30K
31-60 days 31-60X
61-90 days 61-90K
Over 90 days 90K A £

For these past due trade receivables, the Group has
assessed the expected credit losses by considering
historical default rates, existing market conditions and
forward-looking information. Based on the assessment, ECL
rate of trade receivables is close to zero. Therefore, the
loss allowance provision for these trade receivables
balances was not material.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
usD EV
RMB AR
TWD e

The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate
their carrying amounts.

=F

(o)

(d)

wa B RRME

REE —RIFEIHB0EORNEEH - RIEHE
AHE EMNEUEARRENREDMAT -

2018
—E-)N\F
HK$’000
FA T

5,930
9565
450
883

8,218

R-_FB—NE+-_A=+—8 A&£EHCZAH
18 2R 5 B A9 FE UK BR 3% 58,407,000 Tt (= &
— /\4 : 1,894,000 7T) °

2018
—E-N\E
HK$’'000

F %I

945
634
315

1,894

BREEAHEREER  ASEREBEESB
EIRE - ZRIHRRATEEER - FFEES
EEEE - BEABIG  BRERROERAE
EBEREELT - Fltpt %S RUR R AR E
HE B ERBELTERK -

7N S [ R AT BR R R L At B R R 2 R T B 4R A
TE¥EE:

2018
—E-N\E
HK$’000

F %I

1,357
4,076
7,914

13,351

FEU R R R b R 2 A BEEERE
BEHRE -

2019 F 3R
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Fe R BRRME

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FAETT
Total bank deposits, bank balances $R7T71F 5 ~ $R1T4 8 &
and cash REBE 81,488
Less: Restricted bank deposits B AFARBEER
included in current assets 2R ERITHER
(Note 25) (Fff 5£25) (10,335)
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEZEY 71,153
The carrying amounts of the Group’s total bank AEBRITHER BITEHEREZ2EM
deposits, bank balances and cash are denominated BEUATHEELE:
in the following currencies:
2018
—F-N\F
HK$’000
FAE T
HK$ BT 6,288
UsD ETT 71,371
RMB AR 3,107
TWD EAl=Ne 722
81,488

31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018
—E-AFT=A=+-HK
—2-\Ft=-A=t-H

Number of
shares Amount
BHEE ]
(thousands) HK$’000
(F %) FAET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each & % & 8 i%0.018 7T 5,000,000 50,000
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ERTRHE:
RZE—NF—HF—H"

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2018,
31 December 2018,
1 January 2019 and
31 December 2019

—2-hEF—-—A—HBRK

There were no movements in the Company’s share
capital during the year (2018: Nil).

Trade payables (Note) FE A< BR SR (Bt 53)
Deposits received from customers WEE PR &

Accruals and other payables FE AT 3R IE & E PR 1 3K

Note:

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as
follows:

0-30 days 0-30Xk
31-60 days 31-60K
61-90 days 61-90K
Over 90 days 90K A £

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate
their fair values.

—E-AETZA=T-

wa B RRME

—2-N\F+=ZA=+—8"

Number of  Ordinary shares

shares of HK$0.01 each

BREBER

B2 EE 0.01& T

HK$'000

FET

H 1,483,687,151 14,837

FR ARBABAREEFAESH(=F
—N\EF &)

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
TAT

15,370
9,032
3,448

27,850

M AE -
REEZEZAHAENBRNEROREIMNOT :

2018
—T-N\F
HK$°000
FA&T

14,341
762
59
208

15,370

.

ENERREMEMNRZEREREL R EER

165
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Fe R BRRME

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FAT
Short-term bank loans REIRITE X 8,979
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank loans RZE—NEFE+ZA=+—H x5EMD
bore interest at 5.7% per annum and were wholly RITERRENEE 7% B WARN—F
repayable within one year. The carrying amounts ANEBEEE ROTERZERERAIAR
approximated their fair values and were EBEMASE  BUARKEHE-
denominated in RMB.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s banking RZE—NFE+ZA=+—8 x&EHR
facilities were secured by: TRERNATSIBEE
()  bank deposits of HK$10,335,000 (Note 22); ()  $R7771F7X10,335,000/8 Jr (Ff5F22):
(i) corporate guarantees provided by the (i) ARAREOAFTER: &
Company; and
(i)  cross guarantees among subsidiaries of the (i) ARAMBARZEAIR XER-
Company.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s banking R-ZE—NF+-A=+—H A£EH
facilities were secured by corporate guarantees RITRENARA —HINEARRENA
provided by a subsidiary of the Company. No bank RIERERT - FRAWEIRIRITEK °

loan has been drawn down during the year.
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The net movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
in respect of accelerated tax depreciation and right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities during the year are
as follows:

Beginning of the year F 7))

Adjustment on initial application of B XEMRE LM KRS

HKFRS 16 R B AE
Adjusted opening balance 1R B F ) R
Credited to the consolidated FFAGRAEEEEX

statement of comprehensive (B 5E11)

income (Note 11)

Exchange realignment b 5, 38 &
End of the year FR

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of
the related tax benefit through future taxable profits
is probable. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
did not recognise deferred tax assets of
HK$31,297,000 (2018: HK$25,530,000) in respect of
tax losses of certain PRC subsidiaries of
HK$1,072,000 (2018: HK$833,000), which will expire
in five years, and tax loss of certain Hong Kong
subsidiaries of HK$189,355,000 (2018:
HK$153,468,000) which will not expire under current
tax legislation.

The Board does not declare any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

wa B RRME

SRR IR BB T B R A E K
HERBERMNELCHBEE (AFE)F
BEHMT

2018
—E—N\F
HK$’000
FE T

8

BEHBEEDRRBEBEESE MER
P PR 72 A 78 F 18 i 2= ] BB oK 2R B SR AR FIE
FHREBAREE R_E—NLF+=A
—t+— B AEEUTERZECHRBEEE
31,297,000/ 7t (=& — J\&F : 25,530,000
BIL) S RETHBEKBRARNHIEE
81,072,000/ 7T (= Z — )\ 4F : 833,000/
TT)(BRAFEER)  UEETEBK
B A 7 /) 5 T8 £548 189,355,000/ 7T (= &
— J\4F : 153,468,000/ 7T ) (18 4% B i &
TNEERU) o

EXEQUESRBE_ZT-hNLF+A
ST -BUEFENEARE(ZZE-AN
FE) -

2019 F 3R
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Fe R BRRME

Loss before income tax BrFT 1S B AT E 1B
Adjustments for: AT HIEFAE :

— Depreciation of property, — %% - HE X
plant and equipment HEE
(Note 14) (M 5E14)

— Depreciation of right-of- — EHRAEEERE
use of assets (Note 8) (P 5E8)

— (Write back of provision)/ — (FREFEEFEREE)
provision for obsolete SREGFEREG
inventories (Note 8) (Pt 5E8)

— Finance income — B A (Ff5E10)
(Note 10)

— Finance costs (Note 10) — B%ER (KsE10)

— Fair value gain on — BAREBEAER
financial asset at # & @l QFZ’A/LE
FVTPL (Note 7) BB Was (T aE7)

— Written-off of property, — WSEYE - BmE
plant and equipment A5 (P 52 7)
(Note 7)

— (Gain)/loss on disposal of — HE&E¥E - Jf‘ﬁ%&
property, plant and BEO (W), A
equipment (Note 7) (f‘ﬁ .&7)

,.

Operating loss before changes & & & ¢ S E) I & & & 18
in working capital

Changes in working capital LEES S

— Inventories - FE
— Trade and other — EURERER X
receivables E b e W 3k
— Trade and other payables — EfTERF &
H h fE S 5k

Cash generated from/(used in) & & 18, (FiA)RE
operations

Annual Report 2019

2018

—T-)N\#F

HK$’000
TAT

(55,838)

2,078

(7,766)

(106)
460

(719)

12

(61,879)
(7,321)
35,622

2,888

(30,690)



As at 1 January 2018

Cash flows

— Proceeds from bank borrowings
— Repayments of bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2018,
as previously reported

Recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16
(Note 2.2)

As at 1 January 2019, as restated

Cash flows

— Repayments of bank borrowings

— Payments of principal element of
lease liabilities

— Payments of interest element of
lease liabilities

Other non-cash movements

— Addition of lease liabilities

— Interest expenses on lease liabilities

— Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2019

R=ZB-N¥-A-H
RER

— BITfEAR

- BEFITER

RZB-N\E§
+=A=+-H
(BEER)

REEBHMBREER
165 FTiE R
(M sE2.2)

R-E-hE-A—-H
(BEF)

BeiR

- BREBITER

- YREEAETE
B4

- YREEAEFE
B4

HiwkRe g

- BAEEAR

- HEAEMNFERAY

- ERAE

R-B-N%
t=A=t-H

Bank loans
due within

1 year
1EREHH
BITER
HK$'000
FTAET

22,089
(13,110)

wa B RRME

Lease

K
HK$'000
Fib T

Total
@t
HK$'000
FET

22,089
(13,110)

2019 F 3R
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B 7% 3R & B 5

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases were payable as follows:

No later than 1 year 1F RN
1518 R6F N 1,491

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties held under leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The
Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
relating to these leases (see Note 2.2). From 1
January 2019 onwards, future lease payments are
recognised as lease liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with
the policies set out in Note 2.26, and the details
regarding the Group’s future lease payments are
disclosed in Note 15.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has no
material contingent liabilities (2018: Nil).

Annual Report 2019

RZE—N\E+-A=+—8 ' BERT
B EHERMNNARKEEENZE
BT

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
TAT

3,644

5,135

AEBRZARBAMNZRE LG ERNSE
17D BAKEHENHER B Y XM E
A - RNEEEBEETEWEERER
ERP B MEERNE165 - RIFU 50X
AEEFAER-_ZF-—NF— A BHNFA]
RN EREZEHERENEEARE
(RMiz22) - =T —hE—A—HE "
R AR B FRAR 13 Y 51226 B B B SR XN AR
EMBRAKXRANERSHEEAE  FALX
SEARREENKNFBRERHMEE5 -

R-TE-—AFE+-_A=+—H AEEY
BEAIARAB(ZZT-—NF:8&)-



wa B RRME

The Company’s immediate and ultimate RARMNEBEEREKRIERARAAR
holding company is Winful Enterprises Limited, Winful Enterprises lelteq /H\Z%—
a company incorporated in the BVI, and RN EBEXRBSEMA LA R A
ultimately controlled by Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, a FBHARAIEEBEREEREE
director of the Company. il

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note RN /NEC T 2 A S R
18.

Key management includes directors and senior FTEERABEEESKARER
management. The compensation paid or o BiE B #Yf EWEHYfHE&
payable to key management for employee ERAERNEHBAT :

services is shown below:

2018
—EF-N\F
HK$’000
FHE T
Short-term employee benefits %2 21& & 48 7| (ff 7%)
(Note) 7,647
Post-employment benefits 1B B iR IK1E T
— defined contribution — EEHBAEE
plans 54
7,701
Note: Include lease payments of HK$1,032,000 for staff Mzt BIEEIES2MEENZ,032,000%
quarter (2018: HK$1,011,000). T (=T — \F : 1,011,000 5T) °
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Fe R BRRME

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-8
2018
—E-N\EF
Note HK$'000
By E FET
Assets gE
Non-current assets *(RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries 4B A RHKE 525,657
525,657
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H & Wk 292
Amounts due from I ENGIE Q]
subsidiaries 100,818
Cash and cash equivalents BR& KL EEY 5,101
106,211
Total assets BEEME 631,868
Equity and liabilities BERkEE
Equity attributable to equity AAFREHEFEA
holder of the Company PEfL &=
Share capital &N 14,837
Reserves 1 (b) 616,139
Total equity EHEAR 630,976
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b fE < 5% 892
Total liabilities BEHE 892
Total equity and liabilites HEZRkEEHEHE 631,868

The statement of financial position of the ARARMPBRARER _ZTE=Z
Company was approved by the Board of F
Directors on 18 March 2020 and was signed =

on its behalf.

Cheng Wai Tak Tse Ka Wing
BEE HRE
Director Director
EFE Eo
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At 1 January 2018
Loss for the year

Share
premium
BRGEE
HK$'000
TET

R-E-N\F—HF—H 465,738
FEBE =

At 31 December 2018 and AZE-N\F

1 January 2019 TZA=+-BRk
—T-NE-A—H
Loss for the year FEBAE
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NF
+-A=+—-H
Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the

difference between the excess of the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued and the aggregate
net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to a reorganisation for the listing of the Company.

wa B RRME

Contributed Retained
surplus earnings
gABH EEhE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET

(Note)

(Kt 3E)
136,082 14,415
- (96)

B &

Bt ZBHER -

Total
@t
HK$'000
FTHET

616,235
(%)

g ARAZHBABBRRAABTBELT
B EEERBERAAE LM WA
ZERMKB L MBARCEERE

2019 F 3R
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B 7% 3R & B 5

The remuneration of every director and the
chief executive is set out below:

BESRTRBH ZFHMMAT

Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances to a
and retirement
benefits in benefit
Fees kind scheme Total
e 2 BEEHRKE
e REYER FIET EIHE X At
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FE T FE T
For the year ended HE-T-NE+=A
31 December 2019 =t+t—BLFE
Executive directors: HITESE -
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak BREELE
(Chief Executive) (fTE A Z)
Mr. Liu Ka Wing BRsksE
Mr. Tse Ka Wing WREEE
Independent non-executive B IEHTEF :
directors:
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John  ®E®E & %4
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu sEEMEE
Mr. Li Shui Yan FIHB s
For the year ended HEZE-_T—-/\F+=A
31 December 2018 =t+—BLEFE
Executive directors: HITESE -
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak BEEELE
(Chief Executive) (TTECAE ) = 5,211 18 5,229
Mr. Liu Ka Wing BRsgkE = 636 18 654
Mr. Tse Ka Wing WREEE = 1,440 18 1,458
Independent non-executive — i IEHTTEF -
directors:
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John & ZE & %4 120 = = 120
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu EEBILE 120 — — 120
Mr. Li Shui Yan FHBEE 120 — — 120
360 7,287 54 7,701

MEBEEERNFAREXRABEREML
MM (ZF—N\F:8)-

No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year (2018: Nil).

REE_FT—-—NF+-_A=+—H
WHFE  BEARQFE S WE K
W B AT o] 3R UK A& F) 3k 4% LE & 18 13 7
(Z2E—NF &) o

None of the directors of the Company
received or will receive any retirement benefits
or termination benefits for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Company does not pay consideration to
third parties for making available directors’
service (2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, there are no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such
directors (2018: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the years.

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the country/
regions in which the Group has business
operations. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and
evaluate its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.

wa B RRME

RBEE-ZFT-NF+_-_A=1+—8
LEE - KRR EFEHE SR

BXHRETFTE=ZSF(ZT-N\F:
&)

R-ZZE-HAE+-_A=+—0 " #
EENRES XEEEHNZ2EFE
FPEZEEENEBERAS A
ZEFR EERREMRGLTH(Z
T—)\F: &)

RERKFREMER  HEBR
AEBEXRBIEARS Tﬂ#&/ﬁ\
MAARRR B —BATN T RAR
E=ZHAEAERZ(TW E&‘JZF‘?
&)

B Z% - T F % %2197 ik
([COVID-19%& 15) 18 * NEEH A 3
EZBER/WEEETRES
T8 BF K BS 9 8 i o $EIH
COVID-19Z 153 R » e Tr
ERPIERR RS EER

}H{kSHW

S B3 gy S i
e entt & g S

TE‘F
=}

'—H
G\

Z,th
flr H 3
s &

Wtk
E=F

o /I
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B 15 =

AEBRBELAMBFENREREE A
EARGEEREZME(RHEEE T EEEZ

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five

financial years, as extracted from the published audited

financial statements, is set out below.

M mER)FIEHMT

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015
—T-NF —ZT—+F ZT—RF —T—hF
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FETT FETT FET
Results E
Revenue WA 254,072 371,518 1,149,998 1,274,174
(Loss)/profit for the year & (E548) /
attributable to: FE &
Equity holders of the PN/NETE
Company BAEA (55,780) (98,329) 90,729 27,732
Non-controlling interests ~ FE4% % i 25 = = (2,394) (2,290)
(55,780) (98,329) 88,335 25,442
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+-—-8H
2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NE ZEBE—+HF ZZEBE-—RE ZZET—1F
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FET FETT FHET
Assets, liabilities and EE -8R
non-controlling FERER
interests
Total assets BERE 240,795 298,353 502,122 496,002
Total liabilities BEAE (36,830) (38,317) (152,163) (216,273)
Non-controlling interests ~ FE#2 i #E #% = = = (15,248)
203,965 260,036 349,959 264,481
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